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Yoma Bank at a glance

Who we are

Operating for over 27 years, Yoma Bank has remained the

longest established bank in Myanmar. Through strategic
investment into people, technology, and governance,
which has proven to be an essential part in establishing
local and international partnerships towards growth
and progression. Yoma Bank continues its dedication
towards ‘Building a Better Myanmar’ for the people and
communities through creating shared value. We take
each customer’s uniqueness into consideration and pride
ourselves on delivering banking services with their best
interests at heart. We hold our core values close to us and
work towards becoming a trusted partner throughout all
stages of life, therefore striving to create a unanimous
shared value within the community and more.
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“If youwanttogofast, =

go alone.

If you want to go far,

GO TOGEF R

An affiliate of GIC, Greenwood Capital Pte Ltd, and Norfund,
the Norwegian Investment Fund for Developing Countries,
acquired equity shareholding stakes in Yoma Bank with
a total transactional value of approximately MMK 131 Bn.
The two parties became the second and third foreign
shareholders in Yoma Bank after International Finance
Corporation, who converted its convertible loan into
equity. This strategic partnership illustrates Yoma Bank’s
dedication to sustainable capital growth. In parallel,
Yoma Bank demonstrated attractiveness to investors,
partners, and customers alike. The new capital injection
will enable Yoma Bank to further supplement Myanmar
entrepreneurs, SMEs, and business owners with their
long-term capital solutions.
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Who we are
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Our Mission & Core Values

Mission

Building a Better
Myanmar for its people

e

“The “How” to “Build a Better Myanmar for its People”
leads us to confront the biggest challenge faced by the Group
and to build a roadmap to move forward and create value in
everything we do. How is a better Myanmar defined? In my own
words, “better” must be compared in quantitative, qualitative,
spiritual, and material terms to that of today. Through passion
and proficiency, aligned to this deep sense of determination, the
Group is committed to build a better Myanmar together with its
people and for its people.”

U Theim Wai @ Mr. Serge Pun

Executive Chairman
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Who we are Our Mission & Core Values

Core Values

Customer Respect Innovation
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Putting the Customer first
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highest level of respect
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Who we are

Chairman’s Message

4

Although the future remains unclear,
through the collective resilience
of our talented people,
we will navigate the rough waters
and emerge with resolute. ,

2

10

Dear Shareholders,

Before we reflect on the past and look to the future of Yoma
Bank, I wish to express my hope that you are all keeping
good health and staying safe in the current challenging
circumstances caused by the pandemic.

Alongside the rest of the world, Myanmar, and its
economy at large, endured through -challenges of
unparalleled magnitude. Confronted with uncertainty, our
customers, our people, and our communities continue to
persevere. The unfortunate incident of this pandemic is
that it has not only exposed existing inequalities, but also
exacerbated them. We are all in the same storm; but we
are not all in the same boat. Some may sink and some may
prevail. This has tested us, our people, and our strength
and our weaknesses. Although the future remains unclear,
through the collective resilience of our talented people, we
will navigate the rough waters and emerge with resolute.

Yoma Bank has taken a proactive approach in supporting
our customers, businesses, and communities during one of
the most challenging times. Yoma Bank is equipped with
strength and commitment to reduce the burden on our
customers by providing financial relief, maintaining the
flow of working capital to businesses whilst simultaneously
delivering strong performance to our shareholders.

Yoma Bank’s dedication towards developing a robust
and progressive organization is further validated as an
affiliate of GIC, Greenwood Capital Private Limited and
Norfund joined International Finance Corporation as
equity shareholders, resulting in Yoma Bank becoming
the first domestic bank with multiple foreign equity

shareholders. This transaction is evident of the significant
paradigm shift for Yoma Bank, but also the banking and
finance sector in Myanmar. Each of these shareholders will
undoubtedly contribute a unique wealth of knowledge and
experiences that will be instrumental in the enhancement
of the Bank’s operational and governance functions.

Yoma Bank saw to a strong close the financial year with a
total revenue of MMK 315.7 Bn, maintaining a strong growth
of 10.4% in contrast to the previous year. Additionally,
the Bank achieved MMK 34.5 Bn in profit before general
provisions and tax, which saw a steady increase of 6.01%.
Further information and details can be found in the
financial report section of the Annual Report.

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I would like to take
the time to thank our shareholders whose trust and
endless support has been a fundamental pillar of our
success. Most importantly, I would like to personally
extend my sincerest gratitude to each and every single
employee, whose collective dedication and commitment
have undoubtedly been the pivotal foundation for the
successes of Yoma Bank.

Yours Sincerely,

N\
U Theim Wai @ Mr. Serge Pun

Executive Chairman
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Board of Directors Who we are

U Theim Wai @ Mr. Serge Pun U Theim Wai @ Mr. Serge Pun is the founder and Chairman of the Serge
Pun & Associates (SPA) Group. He is also the Chairman of First Myanmar

R Investment Public Company Limited (FMI), one of Myanmar’s leading

public companies established in 1992, and Yoma Strategic Holdings (YSH), a
Date of last re-election: November 2019 Singapore Stock Exchange listed company since 2006. In 2016, he also led
Current directorships in listed Myanmar FMI to be the first company to list on the Yangon Stock Exchange. He was
companies: also instrumental in listing Memories Group on the Catalist Board of the

SGX-ST in 2018.
First Myanmar Investment Public

Company Limited (Myanmar) He has over 30 years of international business and investment experience

in Hong Kong, China, Taiwan, Malaysia, Thailand, Singapore, Western

M Thil EZ Holdings Publi
yanmar Thilawa 3 0cings Fublic Europe, North America and Myanmar.

Co., Ltd. (Myanmar)

Mr Pun was Honorary Business Representative of International Enterprise
Singapore for Myanmar between 2004 and 2006. In 2007, he was appointed
as a member of Dalian’s CPPCC. He was also selected as a member of the
World Economic Forum (WEF) Global Agenda Council for Transparency
and Anti-Corruption during its 2014-16 term.
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0000251 (006 9800¢ FMI 320¢ Yangon Stock Exchange 0a¢ 000050z 026/ C:00E09E:8E520051 B3[QE |00 9800¢ Memories
M JOOL 24003 %3 22 @29 IGCERERIWIN GQGE JOOO 25003
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Who we are

Board of Directors

U Myat Thin Aung

Non-Executive Director

Date of last re-election: November 2019
Current directorships in listed Myanmar
companies:

m  First Myanmar Investment Public
Company Limited (Myanmar)

U Myat Thin Aung is the Chairman of the AA group of companies. He also serves as the President of Ye-Me-Thin Association
and is a member of the Central Executive Committee of the Union of Myanmar Federation of Chamber of Commerce &
Industry and Myanmar Industries Association and the President of Hlaing Thayar Industrial City Management Committee.

It is with great sorrow that we announce the passing of U Myat Thin Aung, one of the longest running members of the
board of directors for Yoma Bank.

Throughout his twenty-seven years of dedication towards the Bank, U Myat Thin Aung unequivocally supported us
through times of success and turmoil. Demonstrating the highest level of integrity, U Myat Thin Aung’s guidance had been
indispensable in the journey that has led to the Yoma Bank we know today.

On behalf of Yoma Bank, we extend only our sincerest condolences to his family members.
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*U Myat Thin Aung resigned his directorship in November of 2020.
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Board of Directors

Who we are

U Tun Myat

Independent Non-Executive Director

Date of last re-election: November 2019

Current directorships in listed Myanmar
companies:

m NA

U Tun Myat was the United Nations Security Coordinator until his retirement in 2004. He also served as United Nations
Humanitarian Coordinator for Iraq for over two years. Prior to these assignments, both of which were at the Assistant
Secretary General (ASG) level, he held senior positions at the World Food Program (WFP) in Rome, where he served for
over 22 years.

Before joining the United Nations, he was the Head of the Legal and Insurance Department at Myanmar Five Star
Line, where he served for 15 years. From 1974 to 1978, he was also the Legal Adviser to the Ministry of Transport and
Communications and a lecturer in the Law Department at the University of Yangon.

He holds B.Com and B.L degrees from the University of Rangoon, an ACII from the Chartered Insurance Institute in
London, and an LLM from King’s College, University of London.
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Board of Directors

U Kyi Aye

Executive Director

Date of last re-election: November 2019
Current directorships in listed Myanmar
companies:

m  First Myanmar Investment Public
Company Limited (Myanmar)

U Kyi Aye started his career in the banking industry in 1960 and was transferred to the Central Bank of Myanmar in 1965
after nationalization. He held many positions over 25 years in the Central Bank of Myanmar, including Chief Accountant
(1987 to 1989) and Executive Director (1989 to 1991). He was appointed the Managing Director of Myanmar Economic Bank
in 1991 and subsequently Governor of the Central Bank of Myanmar in 1992 until 1998 when he retired from the service.

U Kyi Aye joined Yoma Bank in 2000 as the Special Counsel to the Chairman of Yoma Bank. He holds B. Com and B.L
degrees from Yangon University and a Diploma in World Banking and Finance from The Economic Institute in Boulder,
Colorado, USA. He is a Certified Public Accountant.
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Board of Directors

Who we are

Mr. Melvyn Pun

Non-Executive Director

Date of last re-election: November 2019
Current directorships in listed Myanmar
companies:

[ ] NA

Mr. Melvyn Pun was the Alternate Director to Mr. Serge Pun at Yoma Strategic and the Chief Executive Officer of SPA
Myanmar, an affiliate of the Group, between 2012 and 2015. He was appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of Yoma
Strategic in 2015, driving the move to diversify the Group’s businesses along the core businesses while building its
recurring income streams. He has been extensively involved in developing the Group’s relationships with key
partners, including Mitsubishi Corporation, IFC, ADB, Yum! Brands, New Holland, JCB, Telenor and Pernod Ricard,
amongst others.

Prior to joining SPA, Mr. Pun spent 12 years at Goldman Sachs in Hong Kong, where he was Managing Director,
Head of Asia Ex-Japan Corporate Solutions Group. In that role, he has provided financial and corporate advisory
services to corporates and non-profit organisations in Asia Pacific for fund raising, investments and risk management.
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Board of Directors

Mr. Dean Cleland

Executive Director
& Chief Executive Officer (Member of the Leadership Team)

Date of last re-election: November 2019
Current directorships in listed Myanmar
companies:

[ ] NA

Mr. Cleland, a highly proficient international banker, has worked for over 20 years in Asia and the Pacific. He possesses
extensive experience in Financial Services in the areas of Banking, Operations, Technology, Digital, Property & Enterprise
Services and Major Transformation. Working as an Executive General Manager at National Australia Bank (NAB), he
has spent the past seven years working in Singapore and Australia. Mr. Cleland led the development, execution and
implementation of the NAB Business Bank strategy by redefining Relationship Banking at Australia’s largest
business bank, delivering an end-to-end operating model to enhance and grow the customer value proposition. Prior to
NAB, Mr. Cleland worked at ANZ for 30 years in various roles, including as founding CEO of ANZ Royal in Cambodia. With
more than 35 years of banking experience, he brings unique international banking expertise and leadership to Yoma Bank.

Mr. Cleland 20p5 &&&onommadaabe§iozé aeoniogdioq€opangEonddgd(Gimaqss 08803eaan0zé sdedlé:(jo)enyd
2 qcc $3 REOG|O:0YCORINCOOREYO(GIO9$G RC & Joley
C Q N < < < [N < c _C < < NP NP < C <
opScés 2%, s’a@mog@@dboeu Gge@@?cqooc?eaooc? apScéigpeaaondodoopdonadardesa code§iaopSooder spS:0po0
Q e, o¢ Qz _(10C 08 o ¢ S S SN fne e, N, S e ¢
e 8q9000S3E:aBqrpdesa  BS(Fe[gdcBEassorgaBodesonlonydcisgprisd 309:(g|[gEe(goE:cdgpdesind
c O < < Q <

gp: 320§20pSa30p¢ myud(g§eonomeeoy sl gpssiop (§S0loopSi National Australia Bank (NAB) e Executive General

Manager 3(g6 005008¢ pyocon:aq@Eeadops 2§680(030 0390§008:650083Cl0pSH Mr. Cleland 20p5 [3oeoag@Eeel

3a(03:a8:8sg0seqzonadope coadapdesiadlap s00dgudsondades; (Relationship Banking) o3 (g[gé3(G: customer value

proposition o3 (g¢onEe0:8a§ end-to-end cpSc:c0p500500603 eqzags(gciaeniys NAB ooadel Sigoieqreunny) 0003 eqay

c650005 3emEaopSerdeanntgmdapopt Beaoncsclaopdi NAB 03¢ 0300§6008:6500E8 Mr. Cleland 20pS ooego8ioonsg

ANZ Royal &) oopSeconday CEO me(gdaaclenod sa(gniapaniad:qlgé ANZ 0z¢ §dedlE: (90) (030 090§ codiesoncloopSi
oc

(09) adecoyd omadcodcame :33@ salmmon &EEmmImadrdcéadlap midimiCosd S:es00end Yoma Bank z0pad
Q) poeq 2OCHs - [QP5$S [ POCHNCEP ORIROYCRSKE ¢ it 3

le]

lel

e}

03680580260z (§SCloopSH
L A &

17



18

Board of Directors

Who we are

Dr. Holger Dirk Michaelis

Non-Executive Director

Date of last re-election: September 2020
Current directorships in listed Myanmar
companies:

[ NA
Interest in the companies:

[ NA

Dr. Holger Michaelis is a Senior Vice President of GIC Private Limited where he serves as Head, Financial Services as well
as Head, Strategy & Risk for the Private Equity Group. He has extensive experience in private equity and as a strategic
advisor to financial services companies. He currently serves on the boards of several banks in GIC’s global PE portfolio.

Prior to joining GIC, he was a Partner and Managing Director of the Boston Consulting Group based in Beijing, China and
previously in Frankfurt, Germany.

Dr. Michaelis holds an MBA from UT Austin as well as a doctorate degree in Economics and a German graduate degree in
business from WHU Koblenz, Germany.
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Board of Directors

Ms. Fay Chetnakarnkul

Non-Executive Director

Date of last re-election: September 2020
Current directorships in listed Myanmar
companies:

] NA
Interest in the companies:

[ ] NA

Ms. Fay Chetnakarnkul is an Investment Director and the Head of Asia for Norfund. She is responsible for managing and
leading Norfund’s Asia portfolio. Prior to joining Norfund, Fay worked at the International Finance Corporation and
The World Bank Group. Fay has experience within the field of development finance from transactions in Southeast Asia,
Africa, Latin America and Eastern Europe. Fay is a graduate of Johns Hopkins University, School of Advanced
International Studies.
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Daw Aye Aye Soe

Executive Director (Member of the Leadership Team)

Date of last re-election: November 2019
Current directorships in listed Myanmar
companies:

[ NA

Daw Aye Aye Soe joined Yoma Bank as a Branch Manager in 1999, and in the 15 years since has steadily risen to her
present position as an Executive Director and a member of the Executive Committee. Her sound knowledge of the Myanmar
Banking industry originates from her extensive experiences since 1991 in many banking institutions including the
Myanmar Central Bank, Myanmar Foreign Trade Bank, and Myanmar Economic Bank. Prior to joining Yoma Bank, she
was the Chief Accountant at First Private Bank for six years. She graduated with a Bachelor’s of Commerce in Banking from
the Institute of Economics (Yangon) in 1991, and is a Certified Public Accountant (CPA).
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CEOQO’s Reflection

It is a pleasure to be sharing the 2020 Annual Report with you. This has been my first year as CEO for Yoma Bank. It has been
a privilege and honour to have been given the trust to lead Yoma Bank during these uncertain times and, 2020 has been

a year like no other for everyone in the world. Myanmar remains confronted by the strong impacts of the COVID-19
pandemic and this year has been a challenge from a business perspective but also a great opportunity for Yoma Bank to
contribute and to serve the Myanmar people. Personally, I was also able to learn about aspects of the Myanmar culture

such as resilience, strength of the community and willingness to help one another, which shone through during the
challenging times that we faced during the year and have been an inspiration.

Past year in Myanmar

Intense is one of the words that can describe the year for me: it was an honour to be taking over from Hal
Bosher, who had led the bank from being number 23 in the country all the way up to its place in the top

5 banks of the country, and the sense of Family within the Bank’s People was tangible from the very

first moments and interactions. Being in a new country, the fact that my family was not able to join

me during the year, and a global pandemic were challenges which certainly made the year quite
exceptional.

But I would like to share with you the reason why I chose to join the Yoma Bank Family. It is
because some of the core things that have motivated me throughout my life has been the
ability to work in different cultures, to understand and embrace diversity and to strongly
help people achieve more than they think they can. So, when Uncle Serge Pun said to me
that Yoma Bank’s purpose was to build a better Myanmar for its people, that absolutely
resonated with me and motivated me to be where I am today.

I would like to take this opportunity to thank our Chairman, Uncle Serge Pun, the
Board and the entire Yoma Bank team for their continued trust in me to lead the
Bank, for confiding in me their dreams and aspirations for the Bank and for the
warm welcome in making me feel a part of the Yoma Family.
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Who we are

Operational Overview & Performance

It is evident that COVID-19 will continue to have an impact at
both an operational and an economic level for all businesses
in Myanmar, including Yoma Bank, thus everything we do
to support our customers and our people continue to be
critical. As I reflect on the highlights and lowlights of these
past 12 months, it is with great pride that I recall some of
the moments where we have successfully navigated the
impact of COVID-19 for both our customers and our people.

At the very start of the pandemic, Crisis Management Team
(CMT) was established. Tasked with defining priority levels
for the crisis and putting together specific action plans
for each of these levels. The CMT promptly addressed the
direct impacts of the pandemic on our business and
strategize about how to best serve our customers, our
people, and the community through these hard times.

We helped ease the financial burden of businesses,
particularly SMEs and households, when we introduced
our financial relief programs allowing customers to defer
loan repayments or request for a restructuring treatment.
To support the growing numbers of customer participants,
we have supplemented the program with new teams and
capabilities such as the Customer Care Units and ICU
collection units.

Thanks to the valuable learnings on how to operate in a
new normal, we were able to quickly execute initiatives to
keep our people safe such as deploying an A/B model in
the branches, arranging for 2 alternate sites for operational
staff, as well as ensuring COVID testing and care coverage
for all employees.

22

Strategic Overview & Performance

Parallel to our crisis management work, we have continued
to execute against our strategic agenda, always keeping our
north star of ‘Building a Better Myanmar for its People’ in
sight. Specifically, in 2020 we accelerated our investment
into the foundations of the strategic initiatives necessary to
make the dreams of our customers and our people come
true.

In December of 2019, we took 100+ of our Yoma Bank leaders
away to Aung Ban for the dedicated purpose of deciding
how we would deliver towards our purpose and what we
would use to measure our success. This workshop resulted
in our Yoma Bank’s 2020-2025 Strategic Plan, which we
summarized in our Plan on a Page to familiarize it with
the whole organization. Throughout 2020, we have made
great strides in delivering initiatives aligned to our plan,
such as successfully opening 6 new branches which is in
line with our network growth goals, signing an exclusive
Bancassurance agreement with Prudential, in line with
our business partnership goals and developing a payments
strategy and signing a partnership with Mastercard which is
in line with our customer value proposition goals.

A very important commitment the leaders also made in
this December 2019 Aung Ban workshop, was the promise
to change and improve the way we work and the way
we lead. Throughout 2020 we were able to take several
definitive steps on our transformative people journey with
the successful execution of the Way We Work program which
newly defines how we operate as an organization to deliver
on our purpose. Other initiatives we have successfully
executed towards our People agenda are the launch of our

Learning Management System as well as a Leadership Team
Development Program, which are in line with our goal of
continually building our people.

As a leadership team, when we have big decisions to
make, our question always is “is this helping build a better
Myanmar for our people?” This was our guiding principle
throughout the workshop, and as we decided which
initiatives to focus our efforts on, we consistently chose the
ones that would deliver tangible value to our customers,
our people, and the Myanmar People.

Financial Performance

Thanks to a sound strategic planning process, made
possible by the enthusiastic and active participation of our
leadership team, Yoma Bank was able to deliver strong
financial results, despite the tumultuous year, we achieved
a record total revenue of MMK 315.7 Bn, reflecting a strong
growth of 10.4%. Furthermore, the bank observed MMK
34.5 Bn in profit before general provisions and tax, which
saw a steady increase of 6.01%. Further details of our
financial performance can be found in the Audited Financial
Statement attached in this report.

Aspirations for FY20/21

Inthe coming years, we will continue to build on the strategic
foundations we have laid in 2020, guided and directed by
our purpose of building a better Myanmar for its people.
We aspire for our customers to give Yoma Bank a score of



Who we are

CEO’s Reflection

100 out of 100 during every moment of truth. To achieve
that vision, we commit to ensuring that our promises
are reflected through our actions, urgency, and delivery.
Therefore, in 2021, we have committed to delivering
new or improved strategic initiatives, which translate to
products and services that will make the Yoma Bank
experience easier, convenient, and increased value. On
behalf of Yoma Bank, I would like to sincerely thank our
shareholders and directors for their continued support
and confidence in Yoma Bank.

The biggest applause should go to all our Yoma Bank
employees, who have stepped up and risen to the occasion
through all our headwinds and tailwinds in these uncertain
times. We strive to focus on bettering the experience of
our frontline staff as we continue to navigate the impact
of COVID-19. We commit to upholding our employee
value proposition promise and continue investing our
people development goals.

Yours Sincerely,

Mr. Dean Cleland
Chief Executive Officer
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Leadership Team

Leadership Team

Ms. Suzanne Pun joined Serge Pun & Associates
(Myanmar) in 1990 as an Office Administrator.
She was involved in setting up the First Myanmar
Investment Company and returned to the United
States after its formation. In 1993, she returned
to Myanmar to start the Stamford City Business
Institute (SCBI), setting a platform for training
all in-house staff of the SPA Group in basic office
- skills, from typing to office administration,
& || management, and leadership skills. SCBI also

™ / functioned independently as a popular language
T / & school for local children and adults. In 1997,
£ \

she took over the training program for Yoma

. il
W i Bank staff until she retired in 2008. In 2013, she
Ms. Suzanne Pun re-joined Yoma Bank as Ombudsman.
Ombudsman

Ms. Suzanne Pun 20pS Serge Pun & Associates (Myanmar) o3¢ Office Administrator a3(gé
ORRO 9809 00C¢) 0200§006:6800E§0l0pSI First Myanmar Investment Company
oonCopSeconepazéoopd: cloé3(: apgaBonpSecond(§:glsops mee§ms(gpSecoolesd
[g§copSa26(3g90l0pSH opER 98003E (§§628EE3 [gScvpSeapad§ens(§: Stamford City
Business Institute (SCBI) 03 ooxéonpSecoofann SPA Group &) 0§006:qpiae0p0d 326384

C Qo Qo c o c n°OQ° oc C C °Go [N c ']Qo coc¢ Q° (N o
apScéiogdoqeqpieocnaond §:8€:a38qp 305 Seqr 88a§30a¢ cslé:ca008&EagSiqpSap:
BB copoy§od(ogpienidaopd 2o&(o3aegrsm(gd dewdeo:gclaopdi SCBI 20p5  apcadi
[03eqpe(oge: eqodionicogB(ogaiean oroaoemEonempEiondamgdrops: a3:ng
2p5§19010p510pE0 98060028 6) 32(8 5202092005 009 80TAB §renaEN0§COS:q:E0R0
capmon(ogateqaedap0dgpid 000§096805EgM33ClLRSI j007 98003E ©EYSOI

o ¢ _C 5 <

R iq3s¢  @(Algacdep:

(Ombudsman) 3(gd §:eonadg [§§vpSor0§006:6800E50l0pSH

o¢ ¢ Q. . Q Qe o oo e e
UPCCD§08ZI('DQP°(72 (\')(DQG%oGéo§’DoGCD’JC(DD oOCIgxy

26

Daw Ommar Sein joined Yoma Bank in September
2014 and currently serves as Advisor. Prior to Yoma
Bank, she was part of the Research and Training
Department of the Central Bank of Myanmar,
which she first joined as a Statistical Assistant
and where she remained for over 38 years until
her retirement in 2014. While working at the
Central Bank, she was nominated to serve as Senior
Advisor to the Executive Director of the SEAV
Group at the IMF for a two-year term (1996-1998).

Ommar Sein holds a B.Econ (MS) degree from
the Institute of Economics. She has, over the
years, written several research papers, given
lectures at various institutions including the
Institute of Economics and the National Defense
College, and represented the Central Bank at
local and international conferences and forums.
She was also a member of the drafting committee
that worked on the 2002 Control of Money
Laundering Law.

Daw Ommar Sein
Senior Advisor
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Who we are

Vijay Kumar Maheshwari was appointed as Chief
Financial Officer on 1st September 2016. He is
responsible for Finance, Treasury, and Business
Planning. Prior to this, Vijay had worked for
26 years with Standard Chartered Bank and its
publicly listed associate banks, including
10 years as CFO, across India, Hong Kong,
Singapore, Korea, Indonesia, Vietnam and
London. Vijay brings extensive hands-on
experience in finance as CFO, strategic
transformation through enabling technology,
business leadership, corporate governance and
investor relations; and engaging with
shareholders, boards and management to
deliver performance & ROE improvement.

An Indian national, Vijay is a fellow member of
the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India

Vijay Kumar Maheshwari and an alumnus of Oxford Business School.

Chief Financial Officer
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Leadership Team

Anthony is a seasoned international risk executive
who joined Yoma Bank as Chief Risk Officer in
June 2020. Anthony brings proven track record
embedding strategic risk management and
exceptional technical capability in Commercial
Banking franchises across Asia.

Prior to joining Yoma Bank Anthony had over 17 years
of experience working with ANZ, a leading Australian
Bank with significant network in Asia, Pacific and
International financial centres and was accountable
for complex credits such as project finance, leveraged
acquisition finance, export finance and asset finance.

In addition, Anthony has held senior risk positions
in several markets and his key assignments and
projects included M&A due diligence on target
banks, integration of acquired businesses, launching
consumer finance risk management in new markets
and leading country Basel implementation programs.

Anthony Tan
Chief Risk Officer
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Leadership Team

Who we are

Khin Mu Mu Myint is a highly accomplished
senior executive with over 20 years of progressive
experience in commercial banking, strategic
partnership, corporate development, product
development, financial management, corporate
governance, and restructuring and transformation
for Fortune 100 and privately held companies in
various industries.

During her time at Yoma Bank she was involved
in founding the Commercial and International
Banking Division including the development of
products and services and successfully launched
multiple business units across the Bank.

Prior to this she held roles in a number of
significant US organizations such as Freddie
Mac, the World Bank, Citi Group, JP Morgan and
Prudential Insurance as well as local
conglomerate entities.

Khin Mu Mu Myint
Chief Customer Officer - Business
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Naing Aye Lynn joined Yoma Bank in June, 2017 as
a Lead Transformation Officer. Following that, he
worked as Head of Branches, leading a network
of over 1,800 retail banking staffs in a distributed
network of 80 branches until his appointment
into his current role as Chief Customer Officer -
Personal Banking in June 2020.

Prior to joining Yoma Bank, Naing Aye Lynn
had over 18 years of experience working in the
investment banking industry in both New York
and London, working for UBS Investment Bank,
JP Morgan and Bank of America Merrill Lynch.

Naing Aye Lynn

Chief Customer Officer - Personal
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Who we are

Leadership Team

Nang Khin Khin Gyi joined Yoma Bank in
September 2016 and is currently serving as the
Chief People Officer.

Prior returning to Myanmar to join Yoma Bank,
Nang has worked for over 10 years in Corporate
America as an Internal Auditor. She was a Global
Corporate Internal Audit Manager for Alere Inc.
based in Massachusetts. Prior Alere, Nang also
worked for Thermo Fisher Scientific.

Nang brings extensive experiences in Internal
Controls COSO Framework, Enterprise Risk
Management, Financial Auditing, Compliance
Auditing, Information Technology Auditing,
Process Improvement and Business Optimization.

Nang Khin Khin Gyi Nang hc31ds a Masters Degree in ;nterr.latlo.nal
; Economics and Finance from Brandeis University,
Chief People Officer Massachusetts, a B.S. in Management/ Finance

from the University of Massachusetts, and an A.A. in Liberal Arts from Bard College at
Simon’s Rock, Massachusetts. She is also a Certified Internal Auditor.
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Ba Maung Sein joined Yoma Bank in 2014 and
is currently serving as Chief Operations Officer.

His professional career began as an underwriter
with Transport Insurance Company in Dallas,
Texas, and he also held operation, finance and
consulting positions in retail, manufacturing
and Information Technology sectors in the USA
and Canada. A native of Yangon, Ba Maung Sein
holds a Bachelor of Business Administration in
Finance from the University of Texas at Austin
in the USA and an MBA from McGill University

in Canada.
Ba Maung Sein
Chief Operations Officer
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Who we are

Leadership Team

U Kyaw Soe Lin is the founder of Yoma Bank’s
IT department and is currently serving as the
Chief Technology Officer of the Bank. Kyaw
has accumulated in-depth knowledge of IT
technologies and extensive experience in local
and international banking operations, hospital
management systems, and many other commercial
sectors. His vast experience and expertise cover
operations, programming, database management,
telecommunications, networking and project
management. The highlight of Kyaw’s IT career
is the pioneering achievement of his team
developing the “Yoma Integrated Banking System”,
Myanmar’s first automated banking software,
in 2000.

Kyaw Soe Lin
Chief Technology Officer

Kyaw graduated with a B.Sc. (Hons.) in Physics
from Yangon University. He also holds a Master
of Information Science from the University of
Computer Studies, Yangon.
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A digital and business transformation executive
with 20+ years’ experience across the finance,
engineering and education sectors, Paul joined
Yoma Bank as the Chief Product, Services and
Channel Officer in August 2020.

Paul joins Yoma after 5+ years as the Chief
Information Officer for RMIT University where
he led the successful design and implementation
of RMIT’s information and communications
technology and digital transformation strategy.

Paul is passionate about driving a culture of
innovation, collaboration and in bringing
together cross functional teams in the delivery of
customer centric solutions and business outcomes.
He is skilled in the design of both tactical and
strategic capability roadmaps and has a deep
background in technology and digital developments
designed to disrupt traditional operating models.

Paul Oppenheimer

Chief Product Channel and
Services Officer
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Who we are

Zin Mie joined Yoma Bank in June 2014 and
currently serving as Corporate Secretary. She
previously led the Treasury Department of the
Bank. Prior to Yoma Bank, Zin worked at Credit
Suisse and Bank of America Merrill Lynch in
London for eight years within Middle Office
and Product Control divisions specializing in
Prime Services and Equity Structured Financing
products.

Born and raised in Myanmar until her early
teens, Zin graduated from Warwick University in
the UK with a Bachelor’s Degree in Mathematics,
Operational Research, Statistics and Economics.

Zin Mie
Corporate Secretary
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Leadership Team

Ludovica Fabbro joined Yoma Bank in 2017,
initially as Program Manager for Digital
Transformation and subsequently creating the
Strategy team and becoming Head of Strategy.
Ludovica’s professional experience includes
both start-ups and traditional banking and
covers a long list of countries.

Before joining Yoma Bank, Ludovica worked for
four years at J.P. Morgan in Geneva, in the
Strategic Programs Group. Prior to that, she was
head of Market Intelligence and Pricing for
Lazada Ho Chi Minh City. Her past experiences
also include Strategic Marketing for BNP Paribas
in Paris and Business Development for Groupon
London.

Ludovica Fabbro
Head of Strategy

Ludovica’s background in Business comprises
a Bachelor’s in Business Administration in her
hometown, Turin, and a 3 years/3 languages
Masters in Strategy and Management from ESCP
Europe across Turin, London and Paris.
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What we’ve
achieved



What we’ve achieved

Our year in review

240 Bn

Total Capital
64.10% increase from
FY18/19

3,001+ Bn

Total Deposits
16.80% increase from
FY18/19

3,301+ Bn

Total Assets
18.01% increase from
FY18/19

316+ Bn

Total Revenue
10.40% increase from
FY18/19

2,021+ Bn

Total Gross Loan
8.30% increase from
FY18/19

3.77%

Net Interest Margin
1.9% increase from
FY18/19

33



34

Creating
strategic value
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‘Building abetter Myanmar for its people’ is the fundamental
purpose that drives Yoma Bank. Under the guidance of the
Board of Directors, the Leadership Team of Yoma Bank has
developed a Five-Year Strategic Plan, that is reviewed and
adapted annually. Built upon the foundations that have
sustained Yoma Bank over the past 27 years, the Strategic
plan acts as a roadmap of our aspirations.

A key component of knowing where you are going, is to
understand where we have been, with that in mind,
Yoma Bank held a week-long strategic workshop. Our
shareholders, directors and leaders collaboratively
reflected on the past through retrospective brainstorming.
By leveraging our past challenges, we reconceptualized
our purpose, vision, objectives, and values to establish our
strategic deliverables.

As an essential part of Yoma Bank’s strategic aspiration, we
have developed a cadence for delivery, based on 90-day
sprint cycles. On the conclusion of each sprint cycle, the
leadership team comes together to retrospectively review
our performance through the quarter. Furthermore, we
adapt our aspiration in accordance with the market
environment for the next prospective quarter, jointly
agreeing on what will be the priorities and the activities
we will focus on monthly meetings with the Board and
Quarterly Workshops ensure alignment across the
Leadership Team and Shareholders, and the 2025
Strategic Plan is jointly reviewed in yearly workshops
with the Board to maintain its relevance and make any
necessary adjustments.

Following our disciplined approach of delivering specific
milestones in every quarter, in 2020 we have kicked off and
have been developing several strategic initiatives. To
streamline our customer service across the Yoma Bank
network, for example, we have implemented the Salesforce
Customer Relationship Management system. The
engagement with salesforce will provide the platform to

What we’ve achieved

Yoma Bank allowing us to tailor our financial services to
accommodate the individual needs of our customers, whilst
simultaneously strengthening our customer experience.
In addition to the strategic initiatives, our Business as Usual
activities will continue to play an important part in
delivering and reaching our 2025 aspiration.

2020 has been a year dedicated to laying the strategic
foundation for future growth, with an internal focus on the
way we work together as an organization and setting up the
cadence for delivery and communication with the Board,
as well as with a lot of work undertaken to prioritize and
kick-start the initiatives that will drive our performance
towards our 2025 Aspiration. 2021 on the other hand, will
be dedicated to delivering tangible results to our customers,
both on the Business side and Personal side, with specific
developments in the space of transactions, loan product
innovation and digital channel enhancements.
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What we’ve achieved

Creating strategic value
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What we’ve achieved

A year of continued transformation

How we have executed to
our plan on a page

...deliver compelling customer value

propositions

...make it easy and simple for Business

to Bank with us

...build payments & cards so people can
transact

...create deep customer relationships &

show we care

..work with partners to give more ways

to Bank

...build our people
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Sprint 1

(2019 Oct-Dec)

Transitioned CEO effectively;
created new leadership team

Launched our 2020-2025 Strategic
Plan & outlined initial 9 strategic
initiatives

Hosted a 3-day Strategic Leadership
offsite in Aung Ban; align plan on a
page

Agreed on new Board governance
format

Launched 1 new branch (Kalay)

Defined Customer Value Propositions
(CVP) for target segments

Redefined our core systems vendor -
Finastra relationship and
implemented core banking fixes

Implemented yearly cadence & 90
day sprints for delivery of strategic

initiatives

Sprint 2
(2020 Jan - Mar)

Achieved market leader status with
introduction of zero processing fees
for CBM net transactions

Agreed on 202025 technology
enterprise architecture journey
with Board

Successfully deployed SMART
credit auto disbursement for
business customers

Launched 4 new branches (Time city,
Maubin, Dawei, Kyaik Hto)

Created new Products, Services &
Channels division

Signed exclusive partnership with
Prudential for bancassurance

Set up crisis management team and
delivered BCP to CBM to support our
people

Launched WWW program to
transform and re-organize our people
foundations

Sprint 3
(2020 April - June)

Achieved market leader status
with the Principle Pause Program
under Clever Credit

ICU and credit care established to

manage pandemic

Digitized PPP with Ist live workflow

Implemented improved Wave Digital
Linkage account and Transfer IN/
Out.

Partnership signed with Mastercard

3 line of defence model implemented
and new compliance department
created

Yoma Bank Learning Management
System introduced to all Yoma Bank
staff

Redefined functional roles and
responsibilities across the bank (Ins/
Outs exercise complete) as part of
WWW

Approved GIC, Norfund capital
transactions

Sprint 4

(2020 July - September)

Refreshed brand strategy and
launched new Television Commercials

Successfully developed PPP (Wave
2) for our customers during COVID-19
under Clever Credit initiative

Signed contract with Salesforce to
implement CRM initiative

Implemented and launched Document
Management System

Launched 2 new bank branches
(Takkyi & Tamwe)

Vendor selected for AML tool

Performance management &
remuneration framework signed off
(STI, LTIs)

Finalised The Way We Work
Program:

New roles were created and assigned
by their capabilities

Finalized and closed all transactions

relating to new shareholders
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Progression
through
partnerships
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Prudential Myanmar

In March 2020, Yoma Bank and Prudential Myanmar signed
a memorandum of understanding (MoU) and subsequently
signed an exclusive partnership agreement to embark on a
journey to provide life insurance solutions to the people of
Myanmar. Under this partnership, the customers of Yoma
Bank will have access to Prudential Myanmar’s savings
and protection products via the bank’s extensive branch
network.

Furthermore, Yoma Bank partnered with Prudential
Myanmar to establish PRUGroup Life and Health Insurance
products. This has extended health and life insurance
solution to every single employee at Yoma Bank and its
network of extensive partner companies and affiliate
organizations insurance solutions. The policy provides
blanket health and life insurance including coverage
against financial and income loss due to illness, temporary
impairment, partial and complete disability, and accidental
death.
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What we’ve achieved

Progression through partnerships
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YOMA BANK
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Mastercard

As of September 2020, Yoma Bank has embarked on a new
journey with Mastercard with a single mutually aligned
goal, to connect Myanmar’s consumers and businesses to
the global digital economy.

As part of this long-term collaboration, Yoma Bank will offer
a suite of innovative and relevant payment products,
increasing the choice and flexibility for all consumers and
business owners in Myanmar. Mastercard will bring to
the partnership its deep global expertise in developing
digital-first solutions, ensuring ecosystem security, and
leveraging end-to-end data analytics — thus allowing Yoma
Bank to successfully grow the ecosystem for cashless
payments which in turn will drive the digital economy. In the

coming year, Yoma Bank plans on the progressive expansion
of digital offerings, with the objective of contributing
towards the advancement of Myanmar’s digital economy.
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Progression through partnerships

What we’ve achieved

Wave

Due to the unprecedented impacts of COVID-19, Yoma
Bank accelerated its vision to revolutionize Myanmar’s
financial sector towards into the cashless economy.
Yoma Bank and Wave offers its customers a shared
network of over 80 branches and 60,000 agent locations
across Myanmar.

In 2020, as a joint initiative to enhance customer
experience, Yoma Bank and WavePay launched the
SMART Account Linkage, enabling customers to
seamlessly link Yoma Bank SMART and WavePay
digital account. Yoma Bank also worked with Wave Money
to enable loan customers to make repayments at Wave
Agents, eliminating the need to physically visit a branch.

40

In addition, Yoma Bank has begun providing small
business loans through digital Smart Credit System.
Through this initiative, Yoma Bank has been able to
support over 100,000 small businesses with financing
that has been essential to enable growth. Yoma Bank will
continue to pursue opportunities progressively by offering
innovative and competitive financial solutions to SMEs and
micro-borrowers in Myanmar.

In 2021 Yoma Bank and Wave Money’s partnership
will continue to introduce innovative digital services,
making it safe, convenient, and affordable for its
customers to manage their money.
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What we’ve achieved

Livelihoods and Food Security Fund
(LIFT)

Since 2016, Yoma Bank and LIFT have maintained an
undeniably  strong  partnership.  Through close
collaboration and joint efforts, our mutual objective
is committed towards uplifting financial inclusion &
literacy, and accessibility to financial services to
socioeconomic families throughout the nation. Through
this partnerships, several impact funding programs have
been completed including Agri-finance, Hire-purchase and
Under secured loans program.

This year’s focal point has been dedicated to delivering
financial services, specifically to those living in rural
communities of over 350 villages across Myanmar.
Yoma Bank and LIFT successfully completed an
Individual Development Accounts (IDA) financial
inclusion programme at the end of September 2020.

Yoma Bank opened more than 18,800 bank accounts for
beneficiaries from rural areas and disbursed over USD
2.3 Million in savings. Through this robust partnership,
the program has witnessed exponential increases in
financial and digital literacy, responsible financial
approach, and use of financial services.
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Progression through partnerships
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Progression through partnerships

What we’ve achieved

g

YOMA BANK

Rabobank

At the beginning of the financial year, Yoma Bank

and Rabobank extended their longstanding strategic

partnership. The core focal points of this partnership

include:

e Digitalising end-to-end financial services with a
specific focus on Myanmar SMEs.

e Implementing various strategic initiatives to develop a
sustainable and futureproof technology infrastructure.

e Strengthening Yoma Bank’s risk framework to
maximise functionality and long-term sustainability.

The partnership was extended for a further three years
with the mutual objective to raise the standards of
financial inclusion, food security and to supplement the
development of the private sector in Myanmar. As the
Myanmar economy develops rapidly, financial inclusion
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Rabobank

and access to financial services have become more crucial
than ever. Through the renewed partnership, Rabobank
will aid in technical assistance to accelerate its financial
outreach through digitalised facilities, to boost the
financial inclusion throughout Myanmar. One of the key
achievements of the collaboration to date has been the
financing of over 6,500 agricultural equipment to
Myanmar rural community, increasingly through a newly
developed digital channel.
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What we’ve achieved

Progression through partnerships

& :

YOMA BANK

Deutsche Gesellschaft
fur Internationale
Zusammenarbeit (GIZ) Gmb

GIZ

Since 2015, GIZ and Yoma Bank have maintained a
partnership aimed towards uplifting the accessibility of
formal banking and financial services for SMEs throughout
Myanmar. SMEs represent more than 95% of Myanmar
enterprises and have the potential to become the engine
for the country’s fast-growing economy. Due to such a
large representation of the economy, SMEs have also
retained a pivotal role in creating job opportunities. GIZ
continues to support Yoma Bank by providing technical
assistance in the form of international and national
long term subject matter experts, as well as short term
consultants for specific requirements. With GIZ, Yoma
Bank continues to strategically invest into the digital
financial services that sustainably serves the financial
requirements of the SME market in Myanmar.
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Innovative
engagements

&

YOMA BANK
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Yome Bank partners with Salesforce 1o deliver

Yoma Bank strategic
engagement of Salesforce

In our progressive efforts to become the customer centric
bank, Yoma Bank engaged Salesforce, the leading
providers of Customer Relationship Management (CRM)
solutions, as the strategic platform to enhance customer
experience.

Prior to engaging Salesforce, Yoma Bank did not have a
CRM platform. Consequently, leading to constraints in the
information and lead generation processes due to the lack
of real-time data. These limitations produced a disjointed
experience for both the customers and employees.

This prompted Yoma Bank to utilise the Salesforce Financial
Services Cloud, a front-to-back, single system solution,
considered to be the gold standard in the industry.
Salesforce set to deploy across the Yoma Bank network
to provide a dynamic 360-degree prospective of the
customer through streamlining several functions. This
will empower Yoma Bank with the capacity to
connect and support the customers throughout their
financial journey.

salesforce

A W connected, personalised experience (o our CUSTOMERS

What we’ve achieved

Salesforce 30305
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What we’ve achieved
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Yoma Bank Learning Hub

Yoma Bank expanded our digital ecosystem to include
our ‘Yoma Bank Learning Hub’, the Bank’s first Learning
Management System (LMS), developed to encapsulate
both role specific and general development competencies.
Moving forward, Learning Hub will provide a robust and
pivotal foundation for rolling out the Bank’s learning
strategy to build an agile workforce.

The Learning Hub has enabled the Bank a newfound
capacity to conduct professional development training in
an adaptable and convenient learning environment that
caters to the pace and ability of every individual. The LMS
is further supplemented with the functions to ensure a
seamless delivery across multiple platforms, including
the Yoma Bank Learning Hub smartphone application,
available for both iOS and Android.

Through next-gen LMS solutions acquired from Disprz
and MKTM, Yoma Bank Learning Hub offers an array of
features, promoting engagement through gamified and
interactive learning. The LMS has been a revolutionary
milestone, being the first mobile centric LMS with
native application to be utilized by a Myanmar bank,
providing our employees with on-demand access to the
biggest repository of general and tailored resources.
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What we’ve achieved

Innovative engagements

Supporting Myanmar Businesses

Yoma Bank has developed a dynamic approach in its
continuing journey to uplift financial inclusion and
accessibility across urban and rural Myanmar. Through a
variety of innovative and robust financing solutions, Yoma
Bank has provided financial access to over 1,000,000
Myanmar micro-borrowers, entrepreneurs, and Small and
Medium Businesses (SME).

Through the development of strategic partnerships with
Microfinance Institutions (MFIs), Yoma Bank funded
approximately MMK 40 Billion to micro-borrowers in
socioeconomic areas throughout FY19/20.

Engagement through alternative lending enables Yoma Bank
to expand our reach into communities that typically have
limited access to the formal banking system. In addition
to providing financial accessibility, the data serves as
an essential building block for future creditworthiness
assessments.
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What we’ve achieved

Unification
through
unprecedented
challenges
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The last 12 months has attested an unprecedented
economic disruption in Myanmar alongside the rest of
the world due the corona virus pandemic. In Myanmar,
COVID-19 has seen more over 2,000 confirmed cases as of
30th September 2020, with immeasurably more lives
indirectly impacted through quarantine of themselves or
family members.

COVID-19 has impacted nearly every aspect of the domestic
and international economy, from supply chains and
manufacturing to hospitality and tourism. As of August
2020, the local government responded to the second
wave of transmissions with a nationwide lockdown, which
remains in place as of 30th September 2020.

Although the banking industry is an essential service in
Myanmar, it has undoubtedly faced its own set of challenges.
Yoma Bank has taken precautionary measures to ensure
we continue to provide our full spectrum banking services.
In addition, Yoma Bank has also implemented responsive
support initiatives to impacted customers. The focus of
these initiatives alleviates the business consequences faced
by our customers whilst giving them guidance in navigating
the external environment.
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Proactive crisis management

Despite these challenges Yoma Bank has demonstrated
determination and resilience through the display of our
financial strengths. Through the 27 years of business,
Yoma Bank strongly believes that we are well positioned to
continue serving our customers and emerge from the
pandemic with strength and unification.

Operationally, we have maintained exceptional levels of
service and business continuity. To date, only four branches
have undergone temporary closures to protect our staff
and customers from transmission. As of September 30th,
Yoma Bank’s network retains 100% operational capability.

Business continuity has been achieved by adopting
disciplined Crisis Management Principles. Our Crisis
Management Team (CMT), which consists of C-suite
stakeholders meets regularly to ensure we can respond
rapidly to the external environment with fact based
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What we’ve achieved

Proactive crisis management

decisioning considering key risks. The CMT maintains
effective governance and oversight over implementation of
key actions to manage the external environment.

As Yoma Bank’s promise to our customers and our people,
we will prioritise and revaluate our Crisis Management
practices, Business Continuity Plan, and safeguards to
align with international best practices, if not ahead, for
maintaining service levels for our customers and providing
dynamic risk management reflective of the external
environment.
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What we’ve achieved

Here for our Customers

Here for our Customers

Supporting our customers, Yoma Bank prides ourselves on
being there for our customers, especially when they need
us most. Through the challenges we faced throughout the
year, Yoma Bank remains committed to our customers’
interests and wellbeing. We understand that our customers
face unique challenges of their own, which is why we have
constructed and implemented several strategies to alleviate
the financial burdens from our customers.

As we persist through this storm of uncertainties, we
understand that our customers face unique challenges of
their own, we take pride in being there for our customers,
especially when they need us the most. In response to the
pandemic, we have implemented several programs to help
alleviate the financial burdens such as:

e The first wave of the Principal Pause Program,
Yoma Bank provided temporary repayment relief
approximately MMK 567 Bn to over 10,000 customers.

¢ The second wave of the Principal Pause was launched
to provide our customers with further alleviation from
financial burden.

e Further initiatives were rolled out including financial
hardship programs to support our customers,
digitization of products, virtual queues, and offsite
ATMs.

The Principal Pause Program, designed to provide
repayment relief to our customers. The program allows
our customers to catch their breath and more importantly,
to reprioritise their financial resources to address more
immediate challenges. Yoma Bank performs a thorough
assessment with our customer and tailor the program in
accordance with their specific needs, allowing them to get
back on their feet quicker.

Furthermore, an Intensive Care Unit (ICU) has been
established to focus on providing financial support and

market expertise. Comprised of highly knowledgeable
individuals, the ICU team has been committed to tend
to customers who have business operations in high-risk
sectors and industry. Through personalised customer
management, we consider not only the external
environment, but each customer’s unique financial situation
to provide an approach that is in their best interest.

In the midst of the pandemic, Yoma Bank’s Crisis
Management Team performed an inherent assessment
of every single branch to ensure that we continue to
provide our full range of services whilst maintaining a safe
environment respective of our customers and our people’s
wellbeing. Yoma Bank swiftly developed infrastructure to
counteract and reduce transmission such as physical
partitions to minimise direct physical contact, the Bank
has also ensured that essential protection equipment such
as masks and sanitisers are provided to our customers.
The CMT revised safety procedures and processes to
incorporate the mitigation of COVID-19 including
mandatory temperature screening upon entry.
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Here for our Customers

What we’ve achieved
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Supporting our People

Our strongest and most valuable asset is our People.
As an organisation built up upon strong teamwork and
collaboration, we take pride in the people we work with.
Especially during 2020, as we shifted our priorities towards
supporting, reassuring, and helping our people navigate
rough waters. In doing so, we were able to provide our
people with the support required to ensure their wellbeing
and operational effectiveness. Additionally, a number of
programs have been delivered to protect and provide care
for our teams including:

e Crisis Management and Business continuity plans were
implemented to create a safe working environment.
Additional COVID social distancing measures, new
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alternate offices, enabling WFH support, branch health
screen protection and staff rotation work schedules.

e Health Insurance for all staff (including COVID cover),
Emergency Salary Loans, WFH laptop and chair
support, frontline support lunches, interim and full
year bonus payments, tele-medicine, COVID diagnostic
services, COVID support packages.
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What we’ve achieved
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Why we succeed



Why we succeed

Responsible Governance

Yoma Bank defines Corporate Governance as a set of structures and processes that provide strategic direction and maintain sufficient oversight control of the Bank. It includes the
relationships between the Bank’s shareholders, board of directors and executive bodies for the purpose of creating long-term sustainable values through ethical and responsible business
practices for its shareholders and the wider community. The Corporate Governance framework of Yoma Bank is broadly based on the Organisation for Economic Cooperation and
Development (OECD) principals of Accountability, Fairness, Transparency and Responsibility. The Corporate Governance Policy Manual was adopted by Yoma Bank since November
2016. The Corporate Governance Policy Manual is subject to review from time to time. The next review and revision are scheduled in financial year ending 30 September 2021.

The current Corporate Governance principals are as follows:

Accountability Policies established to govern the Bank’s endeavours to shareholders whilst guiding and monitoring the Bank’s management performance.
Fairness Protecting shareholder rights and guarantees equitable treatment of all shareholders, inclusive of minority shareholders.
Transparency To advocate disclosure on all material matters are made accurately and in a timely manner. This includes but is not limited to state

of financial affairs, performance, share ownership and governance in a process that is available to interested parties.

Responsibility Recognises the rights of stakeholders as established by applicable governing laws and regulations and encourages the Bank’s
management and stakeholders in developing a sustainable and financially secure institution.

The Board of Yoma Bank leads, controls, and is collectively responsible for overseeing the business and affairs for the long-term success of Yoma Bank. The Leadership Team remains
accountable for the day-to-day operations and administration of the Bank, in accordance with the policies and strategies set by the Board. Furthermore, the Board will review and
amend the Bank’s policies as required to reflect the current governing laws and industry regulations.
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Board Matters
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The board of directors of Yoma Bank is elected by and
accountable to the shareholders. Except for decisions
explicitly reserved for shareholders, the board has full
authority to carry out all activities necessary to provide
effective strategic guidance and sound oversight. The
primary responsibility of the Board is to guarantee the
financial adequacy of the Bank and evoke transparency of
the decision-making process to ensure that decisions are
made in the best interest of the Bank and its stakeholders.

Main Roles and Responsibilities of the Board includes but

not limited to:

e Review, approve and monitor the Bank’s long-term
strategic objectives and management business plans,
including any performance indicators and targets to
be used in relation to the strategy.

e Monitor the overall performance of the Bank’s
performance towards its strategic objectives and
variance from its defined risk appetite.

e Establish a framework of effective controls which
enables risks to be assessed and managed, including

Why we succeed

safeguarding of shareholder interests and Bank assets
and the steps taken by management to monitor and
control such risks.

e Oversee the Bank’s corporate governance framework
and ensure compliance with approved policies and
laws.

e Monitor and provide directive to the Leadership Team
to ensure that strategic goals are met.

e Evaluate the overall performance and effectiveness of
the board and its members and take corrective actions
as needed.

e Oversee and approve the policies and framework of the
Bank.

e Ensure that the Bank complies with the requirements
of the law and rules, regulations, directives, and
guidelines issued there under.
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Delegation by the Board

To assist the board in carrying out its responsibilities and to
strengthen the Bank’s Corporate Governance Framework,
without relinquishing its duties, the board had formed three
(3) Sub-Commiittees, specifically, the Audit Committee, the
Risk Oversight Committee and the People, Remuneration
and Nomination Committee. All Committees have their own
Charters containing provisions on the scope of authority,
competencies, composition, working procedures and
rights and responsibilities of the Committee Members. Final
authority and decision-making on all Board-designated
matters ultimately rests with the full Board of Directors.
The board of directors delegate certain responsibilities to
the Committees for review and recommendation back to
the full board for decision. The board remains collectively
responsible for the decisions and actions taken by any
Committee. A committee performs the tasks delegated to
it by the board and cannot exceed the authority or powers
of the board. The precise committee structure for the Bank
may vary over time and can be determined by the board as
needed.
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Independent Judgement

All the directors are encouraged to practice independence
in all aspects of the advisory and to make decisions
objectively in the best interests of the Bank. No individual
director holds a considerable concentration of power in
his/her professional capacity.
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Why we succeed

Board Strategic Review

The board reviews and approves Yoma Bank’s strategic
plans on a periodic basis. The Bank holds its strategic
plan workshop in January of every year where Leadership
Team presents an annual plan and 5-year revision plan
establishing the long-term goals of the Bank. The purpose
of the workshop is to encourage a strategic discussion that
focusses on the Bank’s purpose, vision, strategic intent,
competitive position, customer value proposition and
long-term aspirations. It is intended to align the Board’s
growth and risk appetite to management’s execution plans.

In May 2020, Yoma Bank was acquired by two new foreign
equity shareholders, an affiliate of GIC, Greenwood
Capital Private Limited and Norfund. This is in addition
to the loan conversion into equity by International
Finance Corporation, which took place in 2019. All
current shareholders of Yoma Bank signed a Shareholders
Agreement and had agreed to regulate the affairs of the
Bank and the rights of each shareholder on the terms, and
subject to the conditions, of that Agreement.
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Meetings

The schedule and annual plan of all board meetings for the
next calendar year is planned in advance, in consultation
with the board. The board strives to meet according to a
set scheduled annual plan, which enables it to properly
discharge its duties. The annual plan includes the proposed
schedule of meetings and highlight key topics to be covered
over the course of the year. This will help ensure the board
does not only focus on near-term issues, but also considers
other strategic and routine matters in-line with its role as a
board as needed. Other matters will be added to the agenda
of specific meetings as needed.

A record of the directors’ attendance at board and Board
committee meetings as of FY2020 is displayed in the
following table:
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Board Matters

Board of Directors Audit Committee Risk Oversight People, Remuneration & 26t Annual
Meeting Meeting Committee Meeting Nomination Committee General Meeting
Meeting
Total number of meetings held 1 4 5 3
No. of No. of No. of No. of No. of
meetings % meetings % meetings % meetings % meetings %
attended attended attended attended attended
Executive
U Theim Wai @ Mr. Serge Pun 9 82% NA NA NA 0 0%
U Kyi Aye 11 100% 4 100% 5 100% NA 1 100%
Mr. Dean Cleland 1 100% NA NA NA 1 100%
Daw Aye Aye Soe 11 100% NA 5 100% NA 1 100%
Independent Non-Executive
U Tun Myat 11 100% 4 100% 5 100% 3 100% 1 100%
Non-Executive
U Myat Thin Aung 7 64% NA NA NA 0 0%
Mr. Melvyn Pun 11 100% NA 5 100% 3 100% 1 100%
Dr. Holger Dirk Michaelis * 1 100% NA NA 3 100% 0 0%
Ms. Fay Chetnakarnkul * 1 100% NA NA 3 100% 0 0%

*Appointed as Directors to the Board in September 2020
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Why we succeed

Board Induction and continuing
education

Yoma Bank conducts an induction programme for its newly
appointed directors, assisting to familiarize the Directors
with the Bank’s businesses, board processes, internal
controls, and governance practices. It includes site visits,
management presentations, strategic plans and objectives,
meetings with key Leadership Team members and pairing
of new directors with current ones for the first few months.
Prior to an appointment of directorship, the individual
must undergo a fit and proper assessment pursuant to the
Central Bank of Myanmar’s directive.

The Bank also provides general access to training courses to
its board members as a matter of continuous professional
education. The directors are encouraged to regularly attend
training, conferences, and workshops to supplement and
keep themselves updated with current market/ industry
information and to ensure continuous professional
development at the Bank’s expense.

o

C > C o
NONIDY CO6C0DCLS
L 0° |L L]
c c c
DMOMUpNDC[MPiegs
o C < ¢ _C C ']0 C < C
§eeonad20pS 32089838 000:6000 FI§0S0r04PaR0R05 ooard
& Sgozeaopdesiqpa opodm@ el cpdcsiopqpa 3opCde:

<, N Q. o¢ [ 9
B&:g00qps 305 0eadap mecomayep:d al§odomn

c C 9 < c o < Q Q c o <
gpias qS:&iog6:08adeoqs cppdeican 38m:0503 (giapd

60

<OloonSi c&38305008 Qe ¢ Q ccen0d
[~{6}{6] Q‘)&ll qC::@Q)SQO)a(%C Q?OC§=U)£G§€F)O?O 383::8613
c Qo CN oc o c c
GC\?C\)D@CSl QGgigﬁQCBCGIQQPSG? OOC@@C:I QLDQCE”[U’)’.)
B8:oqpiatapdesiqiodgpasedan Leadership Team 328,08

< o c C

P1a¢  e0p.ap(atisd

o _¢ c N N c Oo¢ < c O c <

Sl§oSomgpisé  oRuadcabadlen(gs:  @a0pSa3clodlaopSi

o _¢C N c [\ C c Q < OCo < o C

al§05020328, 08 =(gde§325(5:6(g)8 ([§§en8EEc0r500dona
< Q Q c.Q

e . SN-X Q cQ, Q. Q Q
Gﬁ EB‘?@:’@JUS"ZP“@U?G Sl @O@@%U)anéﬂco@Gﬁ Q)(GZG(\'{P

o’

< N N C o
0&)80)39@880@39%08 (\)O’)ﬂ

9$m$90ﬁ5 39(75@05@9_5 @&ﬂooéu

podmolepiaaynd  maonde(god  agiiogtess  opoesg
Bep  2EIodepizeogod  copogEeqpoolondigpiadcopds

o @ . @c'] S131805 s308 0005 copanod/
600030083090 (480 pSi 3§03 orgpazo 003§ eqpagad
p3c§:3E&:a3Ep 2002E:3305320003g:03 3§ c0q §5& 88036
cS3adeom

208uregpa sopdaecogpi 3ao0geagiegIgEPs 09§003
cepade§aopds 030d0p8:000:0lo0pSH

o]

C Qc__Ooc¢ o Q C C
GQODODO@D(L)CSGXPCGP ga[%FO?SO')('DODDGGFS’BOgO’)

,_
lel

Access to Information and Records

All directors are provided with a concise yet complete set
of information by the Corporate Secretary Team in a timely
manner, as much in advance as possible via electronic
platform. This includes: (i) an agenda; (ii) minutes of the
prior Board meeting; (iii) discussion papers, and (iv) other
reports prepared by management. Discussion papers are
clear, succinct, insightful, and include recommendations
for action based on proper analysis. The Directors can
view current and historic board and committee packages as
well as have access to the books and records of the Bank to
perform his/ her duties.
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Why we succeed Board Matters

Size and Composition of the Board

People Directorship in
Type of Date of Board of Audit Risk Oversight Remuneration & other listed
Directorship re-election Directors Committee Committee Nomination Myanmar

Committee companies
U Theim Wai @ Mr. Serge Pun Executive Chairman Chairman - - - Yes
U Myat Thin Aung Non-Executive Director Member - - - Yes
U Tun Myat Independent Non- Member Chairman Member Chairman No

Executive Director
Nov-2019

U Kyi Aye Executive Director Member Member Member - Yes
Mr. Melvyn Pun Non-Executive Director Member - Chairman Member No
Mr. Dean Cleland Executive Director Member - - - No
Daw Aye Aye Soe Executive Director Member - Member - No
Dr. Holger Dirk Michaelis Non-Executive Director Sep-2020 Member - - Member No
Ms. Fay Chetnakarnkul Non-Executive Director Member - - Member No
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Why we succeed

Corporate Secretary Team

Yoma Bank has a dedicated internal corporate secretary
team to promptly facilitate and fulfill ongoing corporate
requests raised by the Directors as well as to assist with
its governance matters prescribed under the Myanmar
Companies Law 2017.

The team is responsible to ensure that the governing bodies
follow internal rules and external regulations, facilitates
clear communications between governing bodies in-line
with the Bank’s constitution, code of corporate governance,
charters, by-laws and other internal rules, and updates the
Board and the Bank’s key officers on the latest corporate
governance developments.

The Corporate Secretary Team assists the Board in
organising its activities including providing information,
preparing an agenda, reporting of meetings, yearly
Board evaluations and training programs. The Corporate
Secretary Team also assists the Board committees as
needed.
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Board Performance Evaluation

The board of directors of Yoma Bank conduct its yearly
self-evaluation to identify ways to strengthen its overall
effectiveness. This evaluation process is facilitated by
People, Remuneration and Nomination Committee. The
Observers of the Board and Leadership Team are invited to
participate in the evaluation process.

The evaluation is completed on a confidential basis, and it
was segmented into following five key areas:

e Authorities and General Information, which assesses
the Board’s authorities, roles, and consideration in
protecting the Bank’s interest and the shareholders’
value as well as the Board’s effectiveness in guiding
and setting the strategy of the Bank and managing the
performance of Chief Executive Officer.

¢ Board composition, which looks at the composition of
the Board and its sub-committees.

e  Structure and committees, which covers the structure,
composition, effectiveness of committees, and the

deliberations of committees to non-committee
members.
e Duties and liabilities, which appraises the

communication to the Board on duties of loyalty, care,
and business judgement, learning about the Bank’s

business, challenging, and asking critical questions to
management, and disclosure of conflict of interest: and
Working procedures which considers the working
procedures of the Board.
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Why we succeed

Board Committees
on053§, candeodgp:

Audit Committee

c ¢ c o
0)')61080)0)60’)‘)90)
U Tun Myat Description:
Chairman The Board appointed Audit Committee executes a vital role in providing advisory to the
Board of Directors and shareholders. The Committee is additionally responsible to ensure
U Kyi Aye proper oversight and guidance is provided in key areas such as internal audit, compliance,
Member and regulatory adherence. Acting as the main liaison between the External Auditors and the

Board, the committee is trusted with the Banks internal controls and framework to ensure
transparency across the business functions of the Bank.
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Main Roles and Responsibilities of the Committee includes but not limited to:

. To ensure appropriate internal controls and financial reporting are deployed throughout the Bank, periodically
reviewing its integrity, and making recommendations for improvement.

. Review external auditors’ performance, reports, approach, and integrity.

. Provide oversight and manage the performance of the Chief Auditor and the Internal Audit department.

. Review and present recommendations the Board of Directors and Shareholders of annual and semi-annual
Audited Financial Statements and other financial matters.

. Ensure the bank is compliant with industry standards, regulatory directives, and governing laws.
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Related Party Transactions

It is the policy of Yoma Bank that related party transactions
are conducted at arm’s length with any consideration
paid or received by the Bank in connection with any such
transaction being on terms no less favorable than terms
available to any unconnected third party under the same
or similar circumstances. The Audit Committee oversees
and reviews the propriety of related party transactions
and their reporting disclosures. Related party transactions
can present a potential or actual conflict of interest
which may be against the best interest of the Bank and
its Shareholders. The Bank has formulated guidelines for
identification of related parties and the proper conduct
and documentation of all related party transactions. The
objectives are to set out (a) the materiality thresholds for
related party transactions and (b) ensure proper approval,
disclosure, and reporting of such transactions as applicable
under the law/regulations, between the Bank and any of
its related parties in the best interest of the Bank and its
Stakeholders.
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Why we succeed Board Committees

Risk Oversight Committee
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Mr. Melvyn Pun Description:

Chairman The Risk Oversight Committee supports the Board in performing its responsibilities to ensure that risk throughout the Bank is managed in the best interest
of the stakeholders and complementary to governing laws and regulations. The Committee's key function is to review and align the risk management

U Kyi Aye philosophy, procedures, and policies to oversight the Bank’s effective risk management, determine the Bank’s acceptable risk tolerance level and mitigate

Member strategic risks. Matters brought to the Committee may be recommended or escalated as required to the Board of Directors.
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Main Roles and Responsibilities:

. Ensuring the adequate policies and procedures are in place to maintain an effective risk management framework, and if necessary, seek guidance from the Board of
Directors.

. Proactively identifying, measuring, mitigating, and monitoring the overall risk of the Bank.

. Promoting an organization wide risk culture from the leadership team through to the front-line employees.

. Facilitating the Board of Directors in determining a healthy risk appetite, accountable to warrant the overall risk profile of the Bank is aligned with the agreed risk appetite
and tolerance as directed by the Board of Directors.

. Report the Bank’s risk portfolio status to the Board on a regular basis;

. Reviewing the periodical risk reporting from the leadership team highlighting key risk areas.

. Assessment of significant risk exposure provide guidance to the management team.
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Board Committees Why we succeed

People, Nomination & Remuneration Committee

0500031 236[M26CSC 6§26MMMMCE[P(gcsDCcep 2[Meuemduod

U Tun Myat
Chairman Description:
The People, Remuneration and Nomination Committees is to execute a vital role in providing advisory to the Board of Directors and shareholders.
Mr. Melvyn Pun The Committee is also responsible to ensure the proper oversight and guidance is provided in the Bank’s people and remuneration related strategies,
Member policies, frameworks, and practices.
Dr. Holger Dirk Gos@ql(,s..
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Member

Main Roles and Responsibilities:

To approve the Bank’s organizational structure reporting to the CEO.

Recommending the appointment, and reviewing the performance of Non-Executive Director, Chief Executive Officer, C-Suite Officers, and other key personnel.
Approving of the Bank’s succession plan and identification of critical roles.

Recommending the Bank’s performance management plan to the Board.

Ensuring that the Bank’s incentive approach is aligned to the Board’s vision and business objectives including fixed remuneration, short and long-term incentive
plans.

. To review and update the remuneration policy for Directors.
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Why we succeed

Board Committees

People, Nomination &
Remuneration Committee
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Re-nomination of Directors

The People, Remuneration and Nomination Committees
reviews the performance of each Director and revise the
fit and proper capacity for the position annually. When
considering the nomination of Directors for re-election and
re-appointment, the Committee takes into consideration of
the Director’s contribution to the effective running of the
Board, preparedness, participation, time commitments,
whether proper attention has been given by the Directors
to the affairs of the Bank, and Directors’ other Board
memberships at other organizations. In addition to
that, the Committee also determines whether he/she is
independent in character and judgment, and whether
there are relationships or circumstances that are likely to
affect the Director’s judgement. The Committee reviews
all the re-nomination and re-appointment of the Directors
and submit to the Board of Directors for their endorsement
before each AGM. Shareholders are provided with relevant
information on the candidates that are subject to election
or re-election in the AGM’s Notice.
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Process and Criteria for appointment
of new director

Yoma Bank adopts a holistic approach in the selection of
new Directors. The People, Remuneration and Nomination
Committees is tasked to identify candidates and to review
all nominations for the appointment, reappointment and
termination of Directors and Board Committee members,
taking into consideration of the Directors’ character and
competence including integrity, reputation, capability,
independence status, contributions during and outside
of Board and Board Committee meetings, as well as other

criteria prescribed under the Corporate Governance
Manual of the Bank and additional relevant factors as may
be defined by the Committee.
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Managing the
dynamic risk
landscape
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Approach to Risk Management

Yoma Bank, as a top priority for FY19/20, developed a risk
management framework, governed the risk appetite set
in accordance with the Board of Directors. The primary
function of the framework is to mitigate and manage
risk throughout Yoma Bank’s business ventures on both
a strategic and operational level.

The Risk Management Framework encapsulates the

following:

e Development of Yoma Bank’s risk culture and Three

Lines of Defence (3LOD)

Setting risk appetite and alignment with the overall

strategic objectives

e Maintaining governance and oversight through
implementation of risk management

e Determine the key risk, clarifying accountability and
the implementation of appropriate safeguard.
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Why we succeed
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Risk Appetite

Setting and reviewing risk appetite is embedded in Yoma
Bank’s annual strategic planning and approved by the
board. In reviewing risk appetite, taking into consideration
the fluidity of our strategic goals, external environment and
internal control environment and events that impact our
key risks and overall risk profile.

Our risk appetite is regularly monitored and escalated to
Board to ensure business is managed in line with maximum
risk Yoma Bank is willing to take in executing its strategic
objectives. We have articulated our Risk Appetite Statement
which includes qualitative statements, quantitative metrics
and tolerances that are set considering shareholders,
depositors’, and customers’ best interest.

Practical implementation of risk management is guided by
establishment of policies, guidelines, and procedures to
manage key risks.
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Managing the dynamic risk landscape
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Risk Management Team

The risk team, led by the Chief Risk Officer, is accountable

for:

¢ Ensuring execution of bank strategy is in line with the
Board’s Risk Appetite Statement

e Provide independent specialist risk advice to the Board

Boards of Directors

Risk Oversight Committee

Risk

Appetite

Risk Events
Experiences

Drive implementation of bank-wide risk culture and
3LOD to protect bank’s reputation and sustainability
Ensuring the bank implements policy, guidelines,
and procedures commensurate with the strategy and
complexity of business

Proactively identifies emerging risk trends
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Managing the dynamic risk landscape

Why we succeed

Key Risks

Based on review of the Yoma Bank’s strategy and operating environment Key Risks have been identified, defined, and managed in line with accountabilities below.

Key Risk

Definition

Accountability

Credit Risk is the risk of financial loss resulting from a borrower or counterparty failing

Credit Risk to fulfil its credit obligations or decrease in portfolio credit quality resulting in a loss in Executive Credit Committee
value.
. Market Risk is the risk to Yoma Bank’s earnings from its treasury and balance sheet
Market Risk

management activities due to changes in market rates (interest rate, FX rate, etc.)

Asset & Liability Committee

Liquidity and Funding Risk

Liquidity and Funding Risk is the risk that Yoma Bank is unable to meet its payment
obligations as they fall due, including repaying depositors or other maturing debt or
that the Bank has insufficient capacity to fund increases in assets.

Asset & Liability Committee

Capital Risk

Capital Adequacy Risk is the risk that Yoma Bank failing to maintain the level of capital
required by regulators or other key stakeholders (shareholders, investors, depositors,
etc.) to support the bank’s operations and risk appetite.

Asset & Liability Committee

Operational Risk

Operational Risk is a broad term which covers many types of risk, including but not
limited to, strategic risk, compliance, legal, technology, vendor, business continuity,
reputation, financial crime, conduct, miss-selling, responsible lending, fraud and
process failures.

Executive Leadership Team & Chief Risk Officer

Reputational Risk

Reputation Risk is the risk arising from negative perceptions from stakeholders that
can adversely affect Yoma Bank’s ability to maintain existing, or establish new, business
relationships and continue to access sources of funding.

Executive Leadership Team & Chief Risk Officer

Legal and Compliance Risk

Compliance and Legal Risk covers the risk of failure to act in accordance with governing
laws, regulations, industry standards and codes.

Executive Leadership Team & Chief Compliance Officer

Technology Risk

Technology risk is the risk resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes and
systems or from external events impacting on information technology assets (including
compromise of confidentiality, integrity, or availability). The scope includes assets
which are owned and managed by Yoma Bank or Technology services provided by
third parties.

Chief Technology Officer & Chief Risk Officer
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Managing the dynamic risk landscape

Why we succeed
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Risk Culture & Three Lines of Defense

Yoma Bank’s philosophy is to pioneer the industry
standards by going above and beyond the regulatory
requirements for risk management. Yoma Bank drives a
top-down culture from the Board to the Leadership team to
ingrain the concept of “Risk is Everyone’s Responsibility.”

First line risk owners are accountable for managing their
risks, second line risk management provides oversight
through the ‘review and challenge’ process, training, and
specialist support to enable business and third line provides
independent assurance.
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Why we succeed

People Committee

Managing the dynamic risk landscape

Board of Directors

Risk Oversight Committee

Senior Management (Leadership Team)

First Line of Defense

Business Units

Internal Control

Takes and manages risk exposure in accordance with
the risk appetite, mandates, and limits set by the Board
Identifies and escalates significant emerging issues
related to risk

@[eog mogfzoaé St %Ee@qp:o% mmé%oewoe&:é:
ge@eooocmq&%égéqp 266 000338 6 2005605000:0009

mi&)UDSQUDC BBWQ{P §EGQ O%GQc?gQ)(YSQ@C I

Bo [-80

C
CD’JCXDCSP Q’JGOTG(.S]('DQ)’J

[glg&a

&CG@?C &D(’D@O:D

['80

LJL

G200 mgqoqp (7? GO’.)QP

3
On

[ep)

o 5:8:8Cc(g8das300c000¢

Second Line of Defense

Risk Management
Compliance

Ensures key risks are escalated to Board and provides
oversight to ensure First Line business executed in line
with the bank’s risk appetite

Develops the Risk Management Framework (policies,
systems, processes, tools)
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Audit Committee

Third Line of Defense

Internal Audit

Provides the Board with an independent opinion about
the effectiveness of Risk Management and Internal
Controls
Confirms the level of compliance with regulations, and
other limits and requirements as defined in the Bank’s
policies
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Creating shared
value
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Why we succeed

Here for our People

Here for our People

Yoma Bank believes in creating shared value for our
people, and it is our responsibility and priority to help
foster the Bank’s culture with emphasis on teamwork,
respect, inclusion, and diversity. As a way of reflecting our
commitment, we have undertaken various approaches and
methods to provide support and creating opportunities.
Yoma Bank’s commitment to each and every one of our
employees:

e The best of Myanmar’s culture with the flexibility of
international standards

e Our values - living by them defines our reputation in
the market.

¢ Encouraging our people to speak up, our promise is
that we will listen.

¢ The unique and dynamic opportunity to grow into

leaders

Helping you grow personally and professionally.

As a part of the Yoma Bank family, take comfort in

knowing that we want the best for you.

An organization that cares - committed to building a

better Myanmar for its people.
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Why we succeed

Here for our People

Health & Wellbeing

With the shift in changing the way we live and work due to
the pandemic, comes a different set of risks in maintaining
company continuity and operational agility. As the company
seeks to adapt to these rapid changes, the pandemic has
no doubt created a “new normal” for employees, blurring
the work-life balance, such as working remotely, social
distancing, job security, personal financial considerations,
as well as overall health and safety concerns. If
unaddressed, the arising stressful and uncertain situation
will start to affect the workplace and performance. Taking
all the physical, psychological, and social aspect into
consideration, it is Yoma Bank’s utmost priority to
invest in employee wellbeing by providing stability,
reassurance, and support.

In an effort to improve wellbeing stamina and positivity
in the workforces, Yoma Bank has engaged in a newfound
connectedness by providing a range of measures in which
to ensure safety and security.

At Yoma Bank, we recognize the importance of family for
our people. We understand that having grown your family
can be as stressful as it is rewarding. Therefore, we have
restructured our parental leave to ensure that our people
have adequate work life balance.

Goingabove and beyond the Myanmar labour requirements,
we will provide twenty weeks of paid maternal leave or
as an alternative, provide 40 weeks of maternal leave at
50% salary. Furthermore, we have provided four weeks of
paternal leave to be taken flexibly.
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Learning and development

Through Yoma Bank’s journey towards ‘Building a better
Myanmar’, one of the key focus areas have been in the
professional development of our people. Our objective is to
ensure that they are equipped with the skills and resources
to expand their professional horizons beyond their
traditional scope of work. Yoma Bank’s core values have
been the foundational driving force behind the strategic
long-term investment into ensuring that our people are
given the right tools and opportunity to maximize their
potential for growth. Yoma Bank Learning Hub empowers
our employees to take control of when, where, and
what they learn, resulting in enhanced ownership and
engagement by offering over 70,000 online courses.
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Why we succeed Here for our People

PRU Group Insurance & Pandemic
relief services

Yoma Bank engaged Prudential Myanmar to provide our
employees with an insurance policy that ensures that our
people are provided substantial coverage from hardships
due to all medical related expenses and burdens.

In response to the pandemic, Yoma Bank has invested
over MMK 750 Mn towards employee health and wellbeing
services such as telemedicine service to give our people
peace of mind. The Bank has dedicated a reserve to ease
the financial burdens on our people by bearing the medical,
quarantine and treatment expenses associated with the
pandemic.
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Our Employee Value Proposition

78

Our Aspiration for You:

Why we succeed

To help you realize your dreams

Every mountain range (YOMA) top is within your reach
if you just keep climbing. Sometimes you might feel like
giving up but the best view always comes after the hardest
climb. Each fresh peak reached teaches us something
about ourselves and our resilience. And remember, It
doesn’t matter where you are going, it is who you have
beside you that matters.
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Why we succeed

Our Employee Value Proposition

Employee Value Proposition

CULTURE

Our values are the foundation of
our culture:

Customer
Integrity
Respect
Teamwork
Innovation

Your behaviour must reflect
our Code of Conduct - our
reputation depends on it

We expect you ‘Speak Up’ -
share your thoughts - we want
to hear your views

LEADERSHIP

Our aspiration for every
employee is to ‘Help you realize
your dreams’

We provide a safe and positive
working environment for you to
flourish

We are a progressive organization
that is committed to developing
your potential - we recognize
and reward those who go Above
and Beyond

We exist to serve our customers
and develop our people to
support them to grow and
prosper

CAREER

Our Performance Management
Framework drives a culture of
high performance

Career progression is defined
through a 7-level organization
structure with clear competency-
based progression steps

Individual development plans
support your development - our
Learning Hub has over 60,000
on-line courses

We will invest in you and your
capability so that you can be
your best

COMPENSATION

We are committed to fair and
equitable pay

Salary progression is linked to
competency-based progression
steps

Our Total Reward Framework

consists of:

e Fixed Pay (including Social
Security & Employee Benefit
Fund payments)

e Annual short-term incentive
payments (performance
based)

e Long-term incentive for
key roles that influence the
achievement of long-term
strategic goals

BENEFITS

Yoma Bank has a generous
benefits scheme recognizing
many life experiences:

e Earned /casual leave

e Sick/medical leave

e Marriage leave

e  Parentalleave (both parents)
e Compassionate leave

e Study/exam leave

e  Hospitalization grants

e Funeral Relief

e  Staff Loans

e Employee Mortgage /

Hire Purchase Programmes
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Why we succeed Creating shared value

Corporate Social
Responsibility

Yoma Bank’s CSR strategy is founded upon the purpose of
“Building a Better Myanmar for its People”. Throughout
our twenty-seven-year journey, Yoma Bank’s priority is
to give back to the community that has given us much in
return. Throughout the year, Yoma Bank has executed
multiple initiatives to uplift the people and communities of
Myanmar that have resulted in a direct positive impact of
over 17,000 individuals through the community.
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Corporate Social Responsibility

Activity

World Saving Day (WSD)

Where/When

16th November 2019 at The
Secretariat, Yangon

Description

During WSD, process of digitalization driving financial inclusion to give insights to the importance of facilitating
access to formal saving systems was discussed. This message is to be extended to more people, especially farmers
and rural women through the Awareness Raising Campaign ‘#SaveForFutureMyanmar’ as the focal point, purposed
towards building trust and rapport between Yoma Bank and its customers.

Women in Business &
Leadership Development

2019 Nov 29th & 30th at
Rosewood Hotel, Yangon

Yoma Bank represented and advocated for women in business and leadership alongside the two following female
leadership members; Daw Nang Khin Khin Gyi, Chief Audit Officer, was a speaker at the panel - Women in Leadership
- Breaking Through the Glass Ceiling. Daw Samantha Htoon, Head of SME, who hosted our exciting panel on
“Improving SME Access to Finance in Myanmar”.

Yoma International Marathon
2020

9th January 2020 at
Thuwunnabhumi Event Park

With each YYIM event held, proceeds of fundraising have been donated to improve the lives of youth in Myanmar,
and will be distributed to five different charity groups in the Yangon Division.

Business Challenge 2020

25th January to 2nd February
2020 in Mandalay

Yoma Bank’s Head of Digital Credit, Mr. Jason Loughnane, our SME Product Manager, Ko Sithu Phone Myint and
Yoma Bank’s Head of SME, Daw Samantha Htoon actively participated in the 9-day event as a speaker, mentor, and
judge respectively and shared some insights on SME.

“Understanding Financial
Statements” Brown Bag Talk
Series

28th February 2020 at Yoma
Bank Head Quarters

The talk series was organized by Yangon Entrepreneur Association (YRYEA) and proudly sponsored by Yoma Bank.
Yoma Bank’s SME Product Manager, Ko Arkar Bo Bo introduced related SME Products and Mr. John Andes from
KPMG Phoomchai Tax Ltd discussed about effective tax planning with the title of “Tax Planning for Growth and
Sustainability”.

School Supplies Donation

The objective of the donation was to raise awareness on the importance of protective equipment against COVID-19
in the public school system. Yoma Bank donated 6,000 design-your-own masks and school supplies for under-

Prudential

fnrc;iar_rlll Partnering with Step- | 24th July 2020 resourced students in Daing Su and Nyang Villages in Hlaing Thar Yar Township in partnership with Step-in Step-up,
pup a vocational academy based in Myanmar.
. s .. This week-long learning program was developed through a mutual partnership between Yoma Bank, Prudential
Financial Literacy Training Myanmar, and Phandeeyar Institute. The objective was to lift the accessibility of financial services and financial
Program Partnering with 17th September 2020 Y > Y ) J y

literacy in Myanmar and was strategically designed to provide support for individual students, MSMEs and start-ups
by enhancing their financial literacy skills and capacity of leveraging digital solutions.

IDA financial inclusion
program

Nationwide program ended in
September 2020

Yoma Bank and LIFT successfully completed an Individual Development Accounts (IDA) financial inclusion program
at the end of September 2020. The program specifically focused uplifting the accessibility of formal financial services
in rural communities, in parallel to conducting financial and digital literacy training. The program resulted with an
impact of over 18,800 individuals throughout the rural communities across Myanmar.
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World Saving Day (WSD)
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Why we succeed

Delivering sustainable outcomes

One of the foundations of our strategic sustainability is to promote consciousness by giving back to the community. We pride ourselves on proactively implementing goals to positively
impact our people and the environment we operate in. Yoma Bank’s sustainability strategy is established on three key factors: Social, Environmental and Governance.

The key focuses for FY19/20 were:

Sustainability Development .
Goals (SDGs) Targets FY 19/20 Achievement

Social

e 100% of our employee received training and development and on average our employees

. . To ensure our employees are equipped with the received 21 hours of training during the financial year.
Learning and professional . . o .
development adequate skills and resources to go above and beyond | ¢  Invested over MMK 117 Mn into training and development services.
p the industry standard. e Yoma Bank Learning Hub has launched in 2020 to promote training for all the employees

e Customer as one of our revised core values alongside our overall corporate strategy.
e Over 17,000 local people has impacted from the various non-profit and charitable
Building a better Myanmar through initiatives to uplift contributions.
the quality life for our communities through CSR e Almost MMK 70 million were donated to various philanthropic organisations.
while implementing emergency response initiatives to | ¢~ With partnership with LIFT, Yoma Bank distributed USD 2.3Mn funding to 18,800 women in
disasters or unforeseen events. rural areas over the last two years.
¢ Over 900,000 clients trust Yoma Bank.

Giving back to our community

e 54% of our employees are women and 50% of management roles are occupied by women.

Diversitv and equal Offer equal opportunities to our employees, e Overall corporate strategy revised to promote inclusion, speak up and teamwork.
o grtunit 9 regardless of their age, gender, personal beliefs, e Zero tolerance approach on discrimination with the strong governance of business ethic
PP y sexual orientation, and professional background. policy.
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Delivering sustainable outcomes

Why we succeed

Employee Wellbeing &
Benefits

Providing benefits beyond financial compensations to
facilitate and uplift health, wellbeing, and lifestyle.

Health and life insurance policy with a blanket coverage of Yoma Bank employees through
Prudential.

Emergency hardship loans provided to staff.

Substantial increased of maternal and paternal leave allowances.

Environmental

Our environment

Promote responsible environmental practices, waste
management, and reduce consumption of electricity
and water

Our activities induced the emissions of 2324 tonnes CO2 eq.

Promote responsible waste management and reduce consumption of electricity and water.
Yoma Bank has a formal E&S policy in place to minimize the adverse impacts of its lending
activities on human health, the environment, workers, and the affected communities.

Resp

onsible Finance

Contribution to economic
growth

Yoma Bank enables Myanmar’s economy by offering
our customers the products and services they need
to support the development of the country and
the development of quality infrastructure that will
become the backbone of Myanmar’s economy

71% of our supplier expenditure is spent on Myanmar suppliers.

Progressive expansion of the branch network to provide greater accessibility to customers and
additional employment opportunities.

MMK 40Bn towards microfinance institutions and non-banking financial institutions during
the FY19/20 with an estimated impact of over 100,000 borrowers from rural communities.

Financial Inclusion

Access and knowledge of financial product and
services in our journey towards digitization.

We have impacted over 7,000 people in the awareness on responsible lending, financial and
digital literacy.

Partnership with LIFT to provide funding to women in rural areas. Reached 18,800 women
over the past two years.

Corporate Governance

Governance

Yoma Bank ensures all undertakings are within the
bounds of the Constitution, Shareholders agreement,
CGPM and other BOD approved internal policies.

We paid MMK 5,928 million to the government in tax

Achieved 2nd rank across local banks in Pwint Thit Sa Report (Transparency in Myanmar
Enterprises)

Updated Business Ethic Policy to ensure that the bank is setting clear and transparent
guidelines for employees.

518 suppliers were screened to ensure that they comply with our standards

Anti-Corruption

Enforce the Bank’s approach of zero tolerance of
corruption, bribery, and fraud through detection,
prevention, and disciplinary procedures.

100% of our customers looking for a loan should comply with our AML, CFT and Environmental
& Social Policies

Any evidential reports are thoroughly investigated and any internal breach including
corruption, bribery and fraud will result in dismissal as per our Code of Conduct.
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Report of the Directors

The directors are pleased to present their report to the members, together with the audited financial statements of Yoma Bank Limited (the “Bank”) for the financial year ended
September 30, 2020, in compliance with Section 261 of the Myanmar Companies Law 2017.

1 Board of Directors

The directors of the bank in the office at the date of this report are:

U Thein Wai @ Mr. Serge Pun Executive Chairman

U Myat Thin Aung Non-Executive Director

U Tun Myat Independent Non-Executive Director
U Kyi Aye Executive Director

Mr. Melvyn Pun Non-Executive Director

Ms. Fay Piyachatr Chetnakarnkul Non-Executive Director

Dr. Holger Dirk Michaelis Non-Executive Director

Mr. Dean Cleland Executive Director

Daw Aye Aye Soe Executive Director

2 State of the Bank’s Affairs

The principal activities of the Bank are to carry out all business undertakings provided in the Financial Institutions Law 2016 (“FIL 2016”) Section 52, and in accordance with
the Central Bank of Myanmar’s directives, guidelines, and instructions. There were no major changes in the business of the Bank during the financial year ended September 30,
2020. During the financial year, the Bank had the following developments:

a)
b)
©
d
e)
f)

Adoption of revaluation model for its lands and buildings as approved by the Central Bank of Myanmar (“CBM”);

Introduction of “Principle Pause Programme”, which is in line with COVID-19 Economic Relief Plan (CERP);

The Bank applied specific provisions in accordance with CBM Notification No. 17/2017 and additional provisions for potential future losses due to COVID-19;
Long-term incentive scheme was granted to select senior executives of the Bank;

Improvement on the Capital Adequacy Ratio resulting from Greenwood Capital Private Limited’s primary capital injection; and

Gain on disposal of available-for-sale investment are recorded in the other income account.
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3 Financial Performance

For the year ended For the year ended
In millions September 30, 2020 September 30, 2019
MMK MMK
Revenue (including fees and commission income and other
income) 315,694.28 285,864.17
Profit before dividend income, general provision, depreciation,
amortisation, and tax 40,833.48 37,850.40
Less: Depreciation and amortisation 6,308.55 5,282.77
Profit before general provision and tax 34,524.93 32,567.63
Less: 2% general provision for loans and advances 3,125.11 6,091.40
Less: Income tax expense 5,927.98 8,134.73
Add: Dividend income 6.78 6.78
Profit for the year 25,478.62 18,348.28

4 Transfers to Reserves Account

During the financial for the year ended September 30, 2020, the Bank has transferred the following amounts to the Reserves account in accordance with Section 35 (a) of
the FIL 2016, and as required by CBM Notification No. 17/2017.

for the year ended for the year ended
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5 Dividends

There has been no dividend proposed by the Board of Directors of the Bank for the financial year ended September 30, 2020.

6 Issuance and Transfer of Shares

During the financial year ended September 30, 2020, Greenwood Capital Private Limited and Norfund became shareholders of the Bank.

7 Risk and Uncertainties

The Bank has developed and implemented a risk Through its normal course of business, the Bank faced various risks such as credit risk, market risk, operational risk, legal

management policy which identifies major risks and compliance risks that were managed in line with the defined risk appetite approved by the Board of Directors.

which may threaten the existence of the Bank. The

same has also been adopted by the Board of Directors Furthermore, despite heightened uncertainty in the external environment due to COVID-19, the Bank believes it has

and is also subject to its review from time to time. adequately strengthened its statement of financial position by increasing credit provisions and capital adequacy buffers
as well as maintaining stable liquidity and market risk positions.

8 Auditor

The financial statements have been audited by Daw Cho Cho Aung Tin, Certified Public Accountant of Myanmar Vigour & Associates Limited.

On behalf of the Board of Directors,

Q)

{
U Theim Wai Daw Aye Aye Soe

Executive Chairman Executive Director

Date : November 23, 2020
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Yoma Bank Limited

Statement of The Directors

The directors are pleased to submit their statement to the
members, together with the audited statement of financial
position of Yoma Bank Limited (the “Bank”), the statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statement
of changes in equity and statement of cash flows together
with the notes to the financial statements for the year
ended September 30, 2020. These have been prepared in
accordance with the Myanmar Companies Law (the “Law”)

On behalf of the Board of Directors,

U Theim Wai
Executive Chairman

Date : November 23, 2020

94

and Myanmar Financial Reporting Standards (“MFRSs”) as issued by the Myanmar Accountancy Council (“MAC”) and as
modified by the provisions of the Financial Institutions Law 2016 (“FIL 2016”) (collectively known as “the Regulations”).

In the opinion of the directors, the statement of financial position, the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows of the Bank, together with the notes thereon, as set
out on pages 97 to 160, present fairly, in all material aspects, the financial position of the Bank as at September 30, 2020,
and the financial performance, changes in equity and cash flows of the Bank for the year then ended and at the date of this
statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Bank will be able to pay its debts when they fall due.

/

Daw Aye Aye Soe
Executive Director
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Yoma Bank

Limited

Report on the Audit of
the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements
of Yoma Bank Limited (the “Bank”), which comprise the
statement of financial position as at September 30, 2020,
the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, statement of changes in equity and statement of
cash flows for the financial year then ended, and a summary
of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information, as set out on pages 97 to 160.

Management’s Responsibility for
the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair
presentation of these financial statements in accordance
with the provisions of the Myanmar Companies Law (the
“Law”) and Myanmar Financial Reporting Standards
(“MFRSs”), as modified by the provisions of the Financial
Institutions Law 2016 (“FIL 2016”). This responsibility
includes:

(@) designing, implementing and maintaining internal
control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error;

selecting and applying appropriate accounting
policies; and

(c) making accounting estimates that are reasonable in

the circumstances.

(b)

Management is also responsible for the maintenance of accounts and records and the preparation of periodic financial
statements, adequate to reflect its operations and financial condition as prescribed by regulations made by the Central
Bank of Myanmar.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in
accordance with Myanmar Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
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Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material aspects, the financial position of the Bank as at September 30, 2020 and its financial
performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with the provisions of the Law and MFRSs, as modified by the provisions of FIL 2016.
Other Matter

The financial statements of the Bank for the year ended September 30, 2019 were audited by another auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements on
November 22, 2019.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In accordance with the provisions of the Law and FIL 2016, we report that:

(@) We have obtained all information and explanations we required;
(b) Books of accounts have been maintained by the Bank as required by Section 258 of the Law; and

(c) Accounts and records have been maintained by the Bank including the preparation of financial statements in compliance with the regulations as required by Section 84 of the
FIL 2016.

Also, in accordance with Section 89 of the FIL 2016, we report that the financial statements of the Bank adequately reflect in all material respects, the financial position of the Bank
and its solvency.

oy
o
=y, b

Cho Cho Aung Tin
Certified Public Accountant
Yangon, Myanmar

-

Date : November 23, 2020
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In millions

ASSETS

Cash on hand and at banks
Interbank placements
Investment securities

Loan and advances, net
Property and equipment
Software, licenses and rights
Other assets

Total assets

LIABILITIES

Interbank deposits

Due to non-bank customers
Funds restricted for LIFT-AFP
Accruals and other liabilities
Total liabilities

EQUITY

Share capital
Share premium
Reserves
Retained earnings
Total equity

Total liabilities and equity

OFF-BALANCE SHEET
Contingent liabilities
Commitments

Statement of Financial Position as at September 30, 2020

Note September 30, 2020 September 30, 2019
MMK MMEK

8 293,876.22 233,238.99
154,583.00 150,504.50
9 782,322.12 481,389.00
10 1,980,729.88 1,845,544.22
11 40,516.43 27,690.57
12 4.712.99 4.904.51
13 44,264.62 53,926.56
3,301,005.26 2,797,198.35
587.90 483.82
14 3,000,005.99 2,566,566.42
15 996.30 4,459.75
16 59,519.27 79,500.86
3,061,109.46 2,651,010.85
17 86,260.44 32,260.44
17 30,130.00 30,130.00
18 77,671.14 56,289.53
45,834.22 27,507.53
239,895.80 146,187.50
3,301,005.26 2,797,198.35
26 46,257.90 38,146.97
27 170,799.19 158,470.08
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On behalf of the Board of Directors,

U Theim Wai Dean Alexander Cleland
Executive Chairman Chief Executive Officer

Date : November 23, 2020

The accompanying notes form part of the financial statements
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Vijay Kumar Maheshwari
Chief Financial Officer

T you

- QoQC

The ripple visual effect was inspired by the popular belief of
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Statement of Profit or Loss and other Comprehensive Income
for The Year Ended September 30, 2020

For the year ended For the year ended
In millions Note September 30, 2020 September 30, 2019
MMK MMEK

Interest income 19 289,558.96 265,516.22
Interest expense 19 174,383.40 169,933.24
Net interest income 115,175.56 95,582.98
Fees and commission income 20 16,253.41 17,329.93
Other income 21 9,881.91 3,018.02
Net non-interest income 26,135.32 20,347.95
Income before operating expenses 141,310.88 115,930.93
General and administrative expense 22 12,022.18 12,311.17
Personnel expense 23 38,403.64 36,157.07
Rent expense 5,555.44 6,136.44
Depreciation and amortisation 11,12 6,308.55 5,282.77
Specific provision on loans and advances and repossessed

properties 10,13 12,825.50 9,374.26
Specific provision for future losses 10 16,000.00 -
2% general provision on loans and advances 18 3,125.11 6,091.40
Other expenses 24 15,663.86 14,094 .81
Total expenses 109,904.28 89,447.92
Profit before tax 31,406.60 26,483.01
Income tax expense 25 5,927.98 8.134.73
Profit for the year 25478.62 18,348.28
Other comprehensive income

Revaluation of property and equipment 11,18 11,104.57 -
Total comprehensive income for the year 36,583.19 18,348.28
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On behalf of the Board of Directors,

e
2
U Theim Wai Dean Alexander Cleland Vijay Kumar Maheshwari
Executive Chairman Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer

Date : November 23, 2020

The accompanying notes form part of the financial statements

Statement of Changes in Equity for the Year Ended September 30, 2020

In millions Share capital Share premium Reserves Retained Earnings Total
MMK MMK MMK MMEK MMK
Balance at October 1, 2018 27,240.00 30,130.00 43,937.21 15,270.17 116,577.38
Share capital issued 5,020.44 - - - 5,020.44
Amount transferred to statutory reserves - - 6,109.92 (6,109.92) -
Amount transferred to reserve for contingencies - - 1.00 (1.00) -
Adjustment to reserve for general provision on
loans and advances - - 6,241.40 - 6,241.40

Profit for the year, representing total

comprehensive income for the year - “ s 18,348.28 18,348.28
Balance at September 30, 2019 32,260.44 30,130.00 56,289.53 27,507.53 146,187.50
Share capital issued 54,000.00 - - - 54.000.00
Amount transferred to statutory reserves - - 7,150.93 (7,150.93) -
Amount transferred to reserve for contingencies - - 1.00 (1.00) -
Adjustment to reserve for general provision on

loans and advances - - 3,125.11 - 3,125.11

86,260.44 30,130.00 66,566.57 20,355.60 203,312.61
Total comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the year - - - 25,478.62 25,478.62
Other comprehensive income - revaluation
surplus - - 11,104.57 - 11,104.57
Total - - 11,104.57 25,478.62 36,583.19
Balance at September 30, 2020 86,260.44 30,130.00 77,671.14 45,834.22 239,895.80

The accompanying notes form part of the financial statements
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Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisition of property and equipment (6,455.54) (5,109.27)
Acquisition of software, licenses and rights (1,601.91) (1,869.80)
Proceeds from disposal of available-for-sale investments 7,306.43 _
Proceeds from settlement of held-to-maturity investments 35,000.00 40,000.00
Investment in government securities (335,933.63) (71,195.82)
Proceeds from disposal of property
and equipment 29.36 51.05
Net cash used in investing activities (301,655.29) (38,123.84)

The accompanying notes form part of the financial statements

In millions September 30, 2020 September 30, 2019

MMK MMK

Cash flows from financing activity
Proceeds from issuance of share capital, representing net cash

provided by financing activity 54,000.00 315.44
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 63,603.41 119,740.49
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 301,717.31 181,976.82
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year (Note 8) 365,320.72 301,717.31

The accompanying notes form part of the financial statements
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Notes to financial statements for Year Ended September 30, 2020

2.2

General

Yoma Bank Limited (the “Bank”) is a private
company which was incorporated in Myanmar
on May 19, 1993 under The Myanmar Companies
Act. The Bank was re-registered at Directorate of
Investment and Company Administration with
the Company registration no. 193771947 under
the Myanmar Companies Law 2017. Its holding
company is First Myanmar Investment Public
Co., Ltd, also incorporated in Myanmar and is
listed on the Yangon Stock Exchange on March
25, 2016. The Bank was permitted to carry out
banking business under License No. MaVaBa/

P -5/(7) 1993 issued by the Central Bank of Myanmar (“CBM”) according to Section 57 of the Central Bank of Myanmar Law.
The principal activities of the Bank are to carry out all business undertakings provided in the Financial Institution Law
2016 (“FIL 2016”) Section 52, in accordance with the CBM. The Bank renewed its Authorized Dealer License with license
no. CBM-FEMD-95/2013 with the CBM.

The registered office of the Bank is located at Levels 5,6,7,8 Tower-2, HAGL, Myanmar Centre Tower, No. 192, Kabaraye
Pagoda Road, Bahan Township, Yangon, Myanmar.

There have been no significant changes in the nature of the principal activities during the financial year.

The financial statements of the Bank for the year ended September 30, 2020 were authorised for issue by the Board of
Directors on November 23, 2020.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Statement of compliance

The financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with the provisions of the
Myanmar Companies Law (the “Law”) and
Myanmar Financial Reporting Standards
(“MFRSs”) as issued by the Myanmar
Accountancy Council (“MAC”) and as modified

Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for financial
instruments that are measured at revalued
amounts or fair values at the end of each
reporting period, as explained in the accounting
policies below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value
of the consideration given in exchange for goods
and services.

by the provisions of the FIL 2016 (collectively known as “the Regulations”). Should there be any conflict
among the Regulations, the provisions of the FIL 2016, including notifications and instructions issued by CBM,
will take precedence over MFRSs pursuant to section 175 of the FIL 2016. Please refer to Note 2.4.4,
2.4.5 and 2.13 for further details, where the requirements of CBM, which take precedence, were applied
in respect of fair valuation of available-for-sale equity investments, impairment of loans and advances and fair valuation
of land and buildings, respectively.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly
observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability,
the Bank takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability which market participants would take into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. air value for measurement and/or
disclosure purposes in these financial statements is determined on such a basis.
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Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised on the Bank’s statement of financial
position when the Bank becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets and financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

Financial assets

Financial assets are classified into the following
specified categories: financial assets ‘at Fair
Value Through Profit or Loss’ (“FVTPL”),‘Held-
To-Maturity’ investments, ‘Available-For-Sale’

2.3.1 Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating
interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts or payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the debt
instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Income and expense are recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments other than those financial
assets and liabilities classified as at FVTPL.

(“AFS”) financial assets and ‘loans and receivables’. The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the
financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.
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2.4.1

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL when
the financial asset is either held for trading or it is
designated as at FVTPL.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

e it has been acquired principally for the
purpose of selling it in the near term; or

e oninitial recognition it is part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Bank
manages together and has a recent actual
pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

e it is a derivative that is not designated and
effective as a hedging instrument.

A financial asset other than a financial asset held
for trading may be designated as at FVTPL upon
initial recognition if:

e such designation eliminates or significantly
reduces a measurement or recognition
inconsistency that would otherwise arise; or

e The financial asset forms part of a group
of financial assets or financial liabilities or
both, which is managed and its performance
is evaluated on a fair value basis, in
accordance with the Bank’s documented risk
management or investment strategy, and
information about the grouping is provided
internally on that basis; or

e It forms part of a contract containing one
or more embedded derivatives, and MAS 39
permits the entire combined contract to be
designated as at FVTPL.

Notes to financial statements for Year Ended September 30, 2020

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on re-measurement recognized in
profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognized in profit or loss incorporates any dividend or interest earned on the
financial asset and is included in the ‘other income’ and ‘other expenses’ line items. Fair value is determined in the
manner described in Note 4.2.

2.4.2 Held-to-maturity investments

2.4.3

244

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and
fixed maturity dates that the Bank has the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity. Subsequent to initial
recognition, held-to-maturity investments are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method
less any impairment.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market. Loans and receivables (including cash on hand and at banks and interbank
placements) are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment. Interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate, except for short-term receivables when the effect
of discounting is immaterial.

Available-for-sale financial
assets (AFS financial assets)

AFS financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated as AFS or are not classified as (a) loans and
receivables, (b) held-to-maturity investments or (c) financial assets at FVTPL.

Available-for-sale financial assets are subsequently carried at fair value if the fair value can be reliably
estimated using valuation techniques supported by observable market data, otherwise, those assets will be
carried at cost less impairment loss.

Fair value changes to be recorded for available-for-sale financial assets are subject to approval from the CBM.
The Bank is currently holding these investment securities at cost and if revaluation were to be made, the Bank
will seek approval from the CBM on measuring certain available-for-sale financial assets at fair value based on
applicable observable market data.

AFS equity investments that do not have a quoted market price in an active market and whose fair value cannot be

reliably measured and derivatives that are linked to and must be settled by delivery of such unquoted equity
investments are measured at cost less any identified impairment losses at the end of each reporting period.
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Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting period. Financial assets are considered to be impaired
when there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the
investment have been impacted.

For AFS equity investments, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment could include:

 significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

e breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or

e it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial re-organisation; or

e the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss recognised is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception of loans and advances and investment
securities, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account. When loans and advances are considered uncollectable, they are written off against
the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance
account are recognised in profit or loss.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the
investment at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

When an AFS financial asset is considered to be impaired, cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss in
the period.

In respect of AFS equity securities, impairment losses previously recognised in profit or loss are not reversed through profit or loss. Any increase in fair value subsequent to an
impairment loss is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated under the heading of investments revaluation reserve. In respect of AFS debt securities,
impairment losses are subsequently reversed through profit or loss if an increase in the fair value of the investment can be objectively related to an event occurring after the
recognition of the impairment loss.
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Notes to financial statements for Year Ended September 30, 2020

Impairment of financial assets (CONT’D)
Specific provision on loans and advances

The Bank reviews its individually significant loans and advances at each reporting date to assess whether an impairment loss should be recorded in the income statement. In accordance
with the new CBM notification No. 17/2017, Asset Classification and Provisioning dated July 7, 2017, the Bank determines the impairment loss for loans and advances as follows:

Days past due Classification Provision on shortfall in security
valug

30 days past due Standard 0%

31 - 60 days past due Watch 5%

61 — 90 days past due Substandard 25%

91 — 180 days past due Doubtful 50%

Ower |80 days past due Loss 100%

The above is only a minimum requirement and management may provide additional provision over and above the minimum requirement.

Effective October 3, 2019, the Bank adopted a stricter provision policy for Digital Credit loans due to the fact that these are unsecured credits. Accordingly, the provision rate applied

for Digital Credit loans are as follows:

Days past due Classification Provision on shortfall in security
value

1 1o 30 days past due Standard 10%

31 to 60 days past due Watch 25%

61 to 90 davs past due Substandard 0%

91 1o 180 days past due Doubtful 100%

Ower 180 days past due Loss 1004

Specific provision for

future losses

The Bank has applied management overlays to determine

the amount of future loss as a
Management has evaluated a range

result of COVID-19.
of possible outcomes

for financial assets under the Principal Pause Programme
(“PPP”), taking into account past events, current
conditions/trends and economic outlooks.

General provision on loans and advances

Pursuant to CBM Notification No. 17/2017, Asset Classification and Provisioning Regulations and Letter No.2621/ Ka
Ka(1)/3/507/2018-2019 dated May 10, 2019, the Bank is required to maintain a general loan loss reserve equivalent to 2% of

the total outstanding loans and advances with a corresponding charge to profit or loss.
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2.4.6

2.4.7

2.5

2.5.1
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Financial assets (CONT’D)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Bank derecognises a financial asset when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from
the asset expire, or when it transfers the
financial asset and substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the asset to another
party. If the Bank neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Bank recognises its retained
interest in the asset and an associated liability
for amounts it may have to pay. If the Bank
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of a transferred financial asset, the
Bank continues to recognise the financial asset
and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for
the proceeds received.

Write-off

Strength in numbers

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of a financial asset other than in its entirety (e.g. when the Bank retains an option to repurchase part of
a transferred asset), the Bank allocates the previous carrying amount of the financial asset between the part it continues
to recognise under continuing involvement, and the part it no longer recognises on the basis of the relative fair values
of those parts on the date of the transfer. The difference between the carrying amounts allocated to the part that is no
longer recognised and the sum of the consideration received for the part no longer recognised and any cumulative gain or
loss allocated to it that had been recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss. A cumulative
gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income is allocated between the part that continues to be
recognised and the part that is no longer recognised on the basis of the relative fair values of those parts.

Financial assets written off are charged to specific provision when the Bank has no reasonable expectation of recovering the asset. Subsequent recoveries are recognised in
profit or loss. Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the Bank’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where

appropriate.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt
or equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
issued by the Bank are classified according to
the substance of the contractual arrangements
entered into and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

2.5.2 Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Bank are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct
issue costs.
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2.6

2.6.1

Financial liabilities

Notes to financial statements for Year Ended September 30, 2020

Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities ‘at FVTPL’ or ‘other financial liabilities’.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL
when the financial liability is either held for
trading or it is designated as at FVTPL.

A financial liability is classified as held for trading
if:

e ithasbeenincurred principally for the purpose
of repurchasing it in the near term; or

¢ oninitial recognition it is part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Bank
manages together and has a recent actual
pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

e it is a derivative that is not designated and
effective as a hedging instrument.

A financial liability other than a financial
liability held for trading may be designated as
at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

e such designation eliminates or significantly
reduces a measurement oOr ecognition
inconsistency that would otherwise arise; or

 the financial liability forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed and
its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the Bank’s documented risk management or
investment strategy, and information about the grouping is provided internally on that basis; or

e it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and MAS 39 permits the entire combined
contract to be designated as at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised in
profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any interest paid on the financial liability and is
included in the ‘other income’ and ‘other expenses’ line items. Fair value is determined in the manner described in Note
4.2.

2.6.2 Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

2.6.3 Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Bank derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Bank’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or they expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and
the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

2.6.4 Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position
when the Bank currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amount and intends either to
settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
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2.7

2.8

2.8.1

2.9

110

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows comprise of cash on hand, cash balances with banks, non-restricted current accounts with CBM and interbank placements
with maturity of three months or less from the date of acquisition.

Revenue recognition

Interest income and expense

Income and expense are recognised on an
effective interest basis for debt instruments other
than those financial instruments at FVTPL.

In accordance to the CBM Notification No. 17/2017
Assets Classification and Provisioning Regulations,
all interest income from non-performing loans
are suspended and recorded under “Other
assets” and shall only be recognised as income
when the interest has been collected by the Bank.

Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever
the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All
other leases are classified as operating leases.

2.8.2

2.8.3

2.91

Fees and commission income

Fees and commission are generally recognised on an accrual basis when the service has been provided. This
includes loan and overdraft fees, commissions from hire purchase - AFP, remittance fees, trade finance fees and
others.

Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

The Bank as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except
where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the
leased asset are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are recognised as an expense in
the period in which they are incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as
a liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line
basis, except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic
benefits from the leased asset are consumed.
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Notes to financial statements for Year Ended September 30, 2020

2.10 Foreign currency transactions and translation

2.11

2.11.1

The financial statements of the Bank are
measured and presented in the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the
Bank operates (its functional currency). The
functional currency of the Bank is assessed to be
the Myanmar Kyat by management.

In preparing the financial statements for the
Bank, transactions in currencies other than the

Employee benefits

Short-term employee
benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing
to employees in respect of wages and salaries,
annual leave and sick leave in the period the
related service is rendered at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid in
exchange for that service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term
employee benefits are measured at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to
be paid in exchange for the related service.

Bank’s functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. At the end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non- monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in profit or loss in the period.

2.11.2 Definded contribution plan

Eligible employees may participate in the Bank’s defined contribution plan under which the Bank pays fixed
contributions to publicly or privately administered pension insurance plans on a mandatory, contractual or
voluntary basis. The Bank has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been paid. The
employer’s contributions are recognised in “Personnel expense” when the employer’s contributions are made
and when benefits are paid.

2.11.3 Share-based payment arrangement

The Bank issues cash-settled share-based payments to certain employees.

For cash-settled share-based payments, a liability is recognised for the goods or services acquired, measured
initially at the fair value of the liability. At the end of each reporting period until the liability is settled, and at
the date of settlement, the fair value of the liability is remeasured, with any changes in fair value recognised in
profit or loss for the year.
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2.12

2.13

112

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the tax currently payable.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year/period. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are not taxable or tax deductible. The
Bank’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Current tax is recognised as an expense in profit or loss.

Property and equipment

Property and equipment, other than land
and buildings, are stated at historical cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment in value, following the cost model.

With effect from September 2020, the Bank
applied the CBM approved revaluation model for
its land and buildings where fair values of land
and buildings are as determined and approved
by CBM. Future revaluations will be made with
based on fair values as determined and approved
by CBM.

Pursuant to CBM Instruction No. 3954/AA(1)/3/797/2018-2019 dated September 23, 2019, total revaluation gain on land
and buildings was determined by taking 40% of the difference between the carrying amount and the average of the fair
value determined by an independent appraiser as at January 2018 and the Inland Revenue Office.

Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. Changes in the expected
useful life are accounted for by changing the depreciation period or method, as appropriate, and treated as changes in
accounting estimates.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets (other than freehold land and properties under
construction) less their residual values over their useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives,
residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes
in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.
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Notes to financial statements for Year Ended September 30, 2020

Rate

2.14

Immovable property — Building
Office equipment
Furniture and fitting

Motor vehicle
Leasehold improvements

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with the
item will flow to the Bank and the cost of the item
can be measured reliably. The carrying amount
of the replaced part is derecognised. All other
repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or
loss during the financial period in which they are
incurred.

Software, licenses and rights

Software, licenses and rights are carried at cost
less accumulated amortisation and allowance
for impairment loss (if any). Software, licenses
and rights with finite lives are amortised on a
systematic basis over the economic useful life
and tested for impairment whenever there is an

1.25%
10.00% - 20.00%
5.00%

12.50%
20.00%

Property and equipment are periodically reviewed for impairment. Where the carrying amount of an asset is greater than
its estimated recoverable amount, it is written down immediately to its recoverable amount and the impairment loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

Properties in the course of construction are carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Cost includes professional
fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the Bank’s accounting policy. Such properties
are classified and included in the respective categories of property and equipment. Depreciation of these assets, on the
same basis as other property assets, commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

The gain or loss arising on disposal or retirement of an item of property and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amounts of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

indication that the software, licenses and rights may be impaired. The estimated useful life and the amortisation method
of such software, licenses and rights are reviewed at least at each financial year-end. The amortisation expense is
recognised in profit or loss.

Software, licenses and rights with finite useful lives include computer software which have an estimated useful life of
5 years, and licenses which have an estimated useful life of 10 years.
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Strength in numbers

Impairment of non-financial assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Bank
reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and
intangible assets to determine whether there is
any indication that those assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment
loss (if any). When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset,
the Bank estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash- generating unit to which the asset belongs.
When a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be identified, corporate assets are
also allocated to individual cash-generating units,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash- generating units for which a
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
identified.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Bank has a
present obligation (legal or constructive) as a
result of a past event and it is probable that the
Bank will be required to settle the obligation, and
areliable estimate can be made of the amount of
the obligation.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at
least annually, and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is increased
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit)
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation
at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a
provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present
value of those cash flows (when the effect of the time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party,
a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the
receivable can be measured reliably.
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Notes to financial statements for Year Ended September 30, 2020

Deferred revenue from performance and trade guarantees

In the ordinary course of business, the Bank
gives guarantees, consisting of letters of credit,
guarantees and acceptances. Deferred revenue is
initially recognised, for the commission received
in advance, from the guarantees offered to the
customer in the financial statements (within

Adoption of new and
revised standards

There have been no new/revised MFRSs and
Interpretations of MFRSs adopted by the
Myanmar Accountancy Council during the year.

In July 2018, MAC issued Notifications No.
18/2018 and No. 19/2018 requiring the adoption
of International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRS”) by Public Interest Entities (“PIE”)
and either IFRS or IFRS for Small and Medium
Sized- Entities (“IFRS for SMEs”) by non-PIE,
respectively, from fiscal year 2022-2023.

“Accruals and other liabilities”) at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Bank’s liability is measured at the higher
of the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised in the income statement,
and the best estimate of expenditure required to settle any financial obligation arising as a result of the guarantee.

The commission received is recognised in profit or loss under “Fees and commission income” on a straight-line basis over
the life of the guarantee.
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3.2

3.2.1
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Critical Accounting Judgements and Key Sources of
Estimation Uncertainty

In the application of the Bank’s accounting
policies, which are described in Note 2, the
directors of the Bank are required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sources.

The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered
to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

In the process of applying the Bank’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 2 to the financial statements, the management did not make any critical judgements that
have a significant effect on the amount recognised in the financial statements.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period that may have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Impairment losses on loans and advances

The Bank reviews its loans and advances to
assess impairment on a regular basis. In
determining whether an impairment loss should
be recorded in profit or loss, management
exercises judgement on whether there is

any observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from
the loan before the decrease can be identified within an individual loan. The Bank recognises an impairment loss
equivalent to the security shortfall of each individual loan, in accordance with the requirement under
the CBM Notification No. 17/2017 including its annexure on the criteria for the valuation of security
and collateral.
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3.2.2 Specific provision for future losses

3.2.3

3.2.4

3.2.5

In line with the government’s COVID-19 economic
relief plan, the Bank has introduced a PPP
ranging from 1 to 6 months during the year.
Repayment for principal and/or interest will
be deferred for financial assets under the

programme, however interest will continue to accrue. In view of the uncertainty and deteriorating impact of the
economy due to COVID-19, the Bank has applied additional provision to account for the losses in addition to provision
under CBM requirements. The Bank evaluated the possible losses for financial assets under the PPP, by taking into account
past events, current conditions/trends and economic outlooks. Borrowers under PPP are deemed to be at higher risks of
default as a result of COVID-19.

Impairment of available-for-sale equity investments

The Bank determines that available-for-sale
equity investments are impaired when there
has been a significant prolonged decline in fair
value below its cost. This determination of what is

significant or prolonged requires judgment. In making this judgement, the Bank evaluates among other factors, the
volatility in share price. In addition, objective evidence of impairment may be deterioration in the financial health of the
investee, industry and sector performance, changes in technology, and operational and financial cash flows.

Useful lives of property and equipment and intangible assets

Property and equipment and intangible
assets with finite useful lives are depreciated and
amortised over their useful lives, using the
straight-line method. Management estimates the

Uncertain tax positions

TheBankissubjecttoincometaxesinMyanmar.In
determining income tax liabilities, management
is required to estimate the amount of 2% general
loan loss provision and the deductibility of
certain expenses (“uncertain tax positions”).

useful lives of property and equipment and intangible assets based on expected usage and industry norms. Changes in
the expected level of maintenance, usage and technological developments could impact the useful lives and the residual
values of these assets, therefore future depreciation charges could be revised.

There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary
course of business. The Bank recognises liabilities for anticipated tax issues based on estimates of whether additional
taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
the Bank makes adjustment for such differences in the income tax of the period in which such determination is made.
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4. Financial Instruments

4.1 Categories of financial instruments

The following table sets out the financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period.
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In millions September 30,2020 September 30, 2019
MMK MMK
Financial Assets
Loans and receivables:
Cash on hand and at banks 293,876.22 233,238.99
Interbank placements 154,583.00 150,504.50
Loans and advances, net 1,980,729.88 1,845,544.22
Other assets 28,028.99 23,954.72
Held-to-maturity investments:
Investment securities 500.00 35,500.00
Available for sale investments:
Investment securities 781,822.12 445 ,889.00
Fair value through profit or loss:
Other assets 438.30 4.922.02
3.239,978.51 2,739,553.45
In millions September 30,2020 September 30, 2019
MMK MMK
Financial Liabilities
Other financial liabilities:
Due to non-bank customers 3,000,005.99 2,566,566.42
Interbank deposits 587.90 483.82
Funds restricted for LIFT-AFP 996.30 4.459.75
Accruals and other liabilities 48,376.76 60,378.55
Fair value through profit or loss:
Accruals and other liabilities - 4,837.81
3,049,966.95 2,636,726.35
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Fair value of financial assets and liabilities

Financial instruments comprise financial
assets and financial liabilities. The fair value of a
financial instrument is the amount at which
the instrument could be exchanged or settled
between knowledgeable and willing parties in an
arm’s length transaction, other than in a forced
or liquidation sale.

The unquoted equity investments classified as available-for-sale, are carried at cost, less impairment because the fair value
cannot be reliably estimated using valuation techniques supported by observable market data determined.

Except for long term Government treasury bonds which are classified as held-to-maturity, management considers that the
carrying amounts of the financial assets and liabilities of the Bank recorded as amortised cost in the financial statements
approximates their fair value, due to the relative short-term maturity of those financial instruments or the interest rate is
frequently reviewed.

Financial Risk Management

The Bank’s financial risk management policies
seek to ensure that adequate financial resources
are available for the development of the Bank’s
business while managing its risks. The Bank’s
activities are principally related to extending
loans and advances, accepting deposits and
carrying out transactions. These expose the
Bank to a variety of financial risks, including
foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit
risk and liquidity risk.

Managing these financial risks forms an integral
part of the Bank’s business. The Bank adopts
the risk management set out in accordance to
the risk appetite of the Bank, which encompass

a variety of controls and reporting processes. These not only include risk parameters for the various financial
instruments that the Bank may undertake, but also directions on the types of business that the Bank may engage in, guidelines
for the acceptance of customers for all types of financial instruments and terms under which customer business is
conducted.

The Bank’s Board of Directors have delegated operational authority for asset/liability management and managing of
market risks to the Asset/Liability Committee (“ALCO”). The ALCO seeks to identify, measure, and manage the key risk
exposures to market prices, interest rates, foreign exchange rates, liquidity and capital adequacy within the Bank’s
desired risk appetite in accordance with the Bank’s Asset Liability Management (“ALM”) policy.

The Bank believes that it has effective processes in place to identify, measure, monitor and ultimately, mitigate these
financial risks.

There has been no change to the Bank’s exposure to these financial risks or the manner in which it manages and measures
the risk.
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5.1
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Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss that
results from customers failing to meet their
obligations. Credit risk arises primarily from
lending activities and represents the major risk of
the Bank. The Board of Directors of the Bank
approves major policies and limits that govern
monitoring of the credit risk. The Board of
Directors delegates authority to the Credit
Committee for overseeing the credit risk of
the Bank. The Bank structures the levels of
credit risk it undertakes by placing limits
on the amount of risk acceptable in relation
to one borrower, or group of borrowers and
industry segments. Such risks are monitored on
aregular basis and are subject to annual or more
frequent review. Limits on the single customer,
by group of customers and by industry sectors
were adopted by the Bank for monitoring of the
credit risks.

The Bank employs a range of policies and
practices mitigate credit risk. The most traditional
of these is the taking of security for loans and
advances, which is a common practice. The Bank

Strength in numbers

implements guidelines on the acceptability of specific classes of collateral or credit risk mitigation. The principal collateral
types for loans and advances include charges over land and buildings, equipment, contract types for loans and
advances include charges over land and buildings, equipment, contract financing, guarantees, project contracting and
residential properties.

All credit lending to non-bank customers are generally secured. In addition, in order to minimize credit loss, the Bank will
seek additional collateral from the counterparty as soon as impairment indicators are noticed for the relevant individual
loans and advances.

The fair value of collateral is valued by an independent assessor is based on valuation techniques commonly
used for the corresponding assets, done before the inception of the loan. Loans are usually given between
the margins of 50% to 70% of the Forced Sale Value, which is also independently estimated. There is periodic
revaluation of the collaterals in subsequent periods and at the renewal/roll-over of a loan, the customer is questioned
about any changes to the collateral at which point the need for a reappraisal will be decided.

The credit risk management and control are centralized with the Credit Committee, which reports to the Board of Directors
on a monthly basic. Exposure to credit risk is also managed through regular analysis of the ability of borrowers and potential
borrowers to meet interest and capital repayment obligations and by changing these lending limits where appropriate.

The Bank’s policy requires the review of individual credit facility on a periodic basis or when individual circumstances
require. Impairment allowances on individually assessed accounts are determined by an evaluation of the incurred loss
on a case-by-case basic and subject to the approval of Credit Committee.

Credit-related commitments risks

The Bank makes available to its customers guarantees that may require that the Bank makes payment on their behalf and enters into commitments to extend credit lines to
secure their liquidity needs. Letters of credit and guarantees commit the Bank to make payments on behalf of customers in the event of a specific act, generally related to the
import or export of goods. Such commitments expose the Bank to similar risks to loans and are mitigated by the same control processes and policies.
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Credit Risk (CONT’D)

Maximum exposure to credit risk

The following table presents the Bank’s
maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of
the reporting period in respect of on- balance
sheet and off-balance sheet financial instruments,
without taking into account the value of any

In millions

Cash at banks

Interbank placements
Investment securities

Loan and advances, net
Other assets

Off-balance sheet
Contingent liabilities

Undrawn loan commitments

Total maximum exposure to credit risk

collateral or other security held, in the event the counterparties fail to perform their obligations. The maximum exposure
to credit risk to on- balance sheet is the carrying amount of these instruments as reported in the statement of financial
position. For contingent liabilities, the maximum exposure to credit risk is the maximum amount the Bank would have to
pay if the obligations of the instruments issued are called upon. For commitments, the maximum exposure to credit risk
is the full amount of undrawn credit facilities granted to customers.

September 30, 2020 September 30, 2019
MMK MMK

193,911.54 171,695.46

154,583.00 150,504.50

782,322.12 481,389.00
1,980,729.88 1,845,544.22

28,467.29 28,876.74

46,257.90 38,146.97

170,799.19 158,470.08
3,357,070.92 2,874,626.97

Collateral and other credit enhancements

In respect of the Bank’s deposits with other
banks, the Bank considers the exposure to credit
risk to be low as these deposits are placed with
credit-worthy financial institutions.

The Bank seeks to use collateral to mitigate its risks
on financial assets. The collateral comes in various
forms such as cash, real estate, inventories,
and other non-financial assets. The fair value of
collateral is generally assessed, at a minimum,
at inception and based on the Bank’s statutory
reporting schedule.

To the extent possible, the Bank uses active market data for valuing financial assets held as collateral. Non-financial
collateral, such as real estate, is valued based on data provided by approved third party property assessors or other
independent sources.

Where collaterals are repossessed, the Bank’s policy is to determine whether a repossessed asset can be best used for its
internal operations or should be sold. Assets determined to be useful for the internal operations are transferred to their
relevant asset category at the lower of their repossessed value or the carrying value of the original secured asset. Assets
for which selling is determined to be a better option are transferred to assets held for sale at their fair value or fair value
less cost to sell for non-financial assets at the repossession date in line with the Bank’s policy.

As at September 30, 2020 and September 30,2019, the fair value of collateral that the Bank holds relating to impaired
loans with specific provision under the Loss category amounts to MMK 75.05 billion and MMK 23.88 billion, respectively.
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5.1 Credit Risk (CONT’D)
Credit risk by industry

The following table sets out the Bank’s loan and advances based on the exposure by industry as at the end of the reporting period:

September 30, 2020 September 30, 2019
MMK MMK
Housing loan 154,578.87 122,310.23
Digital credit 49,143.03 21,600.54
Trade finance 43,595.06 30,106.23
Total 2,022,229.27 1,865,973.53
Partial payments on NPLs (1,659.41) (891.05)
Specific allowance (39,839.98) (19,538.26)
Net 1,980,729.88 1,845,544.22
Undrawn loan commitments:
Agricultural 645.79 2,164.71
Construction 3,361.66 4,174.14
Manufacturing 29,738.50 25,589.03
Service 12,137.64 13,905.66
Trading 59,383.07 49,077.82
Transportation 1,410.03 1,000.37
Trade Finance 53,440.35 51,279.59
Net 160,117.04 147,191.32
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Credit Risk (CONT’D)

Credit quality of loans and advances

The Bank adopts an internally developed credit rating scale, which generally corresponds to the classification set out in the CBM Notification No. 17/2017 Asset Classification
and Provisioning Regulations. The following table sets out the credit classification of the Bank’s loans and advances as at September 30, 2020.

Loans with specific provision — Loss category

971.25
189.53
4,500.83
37,025.91

42,687.52

Standard 6,043.87
Watch 23.671.90
Substandard 12,164.64
Doubtful 4.416.78
Loss 45,209.46
Total loans with specific provision — Loss category 91,506.65

2,022,229.27

1,865,973.53

All other financial assets are neither past due nor impaired as of reporting date.
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5.2 Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank is unable
to meet its obligations when they fall due as a
result of customer deposits being withdrawn,
cashrequirements from contractual commitmets,
or other cash outflows, such as debt maturities
or margin calls for derivatives. Such outflows

The objective of liquidity risk management is to ensure that the Bank has the ability to generate sufficient cash or its
equivalents, in a timely and cost effectively manner, to meet its commitments as they fall due.

As part of its liquidity risk management framework set by CBM regulations and the ALCO, the Bank is required to
maintain adequate liquid assets to manage its short-term liquidity. The Bank relies for its short-term liquidity on
investments in government securities, interbank placements and holding cash reserves. This serves to ensure full
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would deplete available cash resources for client
lending, trading activities and inestments. In
extreme circumstances, lack of liquidity could
result in reductions in the statement of financial
position and sales of assets, or potentially an
inability to fulfil lending commitments. The risk
that the Bank will be specific and market-wide
events including, but not limited to, credit events,

cash inflows are available to meet customer withdrawals upon maturity or earlier.

The tables below set out the remaining contractual maturities of the Bank’s non-derivative financial assets and

financial liabilities on an undiscounted basis.

September 30, 2020

No specific for

merger and acquisition activity, systemic shocks In millions Lessthan 1 Year  More than 1 Year maturity Total
and natural disasters. MMEK MMEK MMEK MMEK
. Non-derivative financial assets
Itis un.usual for any Pank to comple'tel}'/ 'n?atcf% the Cash on hand and at banks 293.876.22 ) ) 293,876.22
maturity profile of its assets and liabilities since
business transacted is often of different terms Initink placunenis 154,383.00 ) ) 158,883,
and of different types. Therefore, controlled Loans and advances, net 1,980,729.88 - - 1,980,729.88
mismatching of the maturities of assets and Investment securities 544,158.14 235,535.95 2,628.03 782,322.12
liabilities is fundamental to the management of Other assets 27,480.98 548.01 - 28,028.99
liquidity of the Bank. Total 3,000,828.22 236,083.96 2,628.03 3,239,540.21
Non-derivative financial
liabilities
Due to non-bank customers 3,000,005.99 - - 3,000,005.99
Interbank liabilities 587.90 - - 587.90
Funds segregated for LIFT-AFP - 996.30 - 996.30
Accruals and other liabilities 48,376.76 - - 48,376.76
Total 3,048,970.65 996.30 < 3,049,966,95
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5.2 Liquidity Risk (CONT’D)

September 30, 2019
No specific for
In Kyats milliions Less than 1 Year More than 1 Year maturity Total
MMK MMK MMK MMK

Non-derivative financial

assets
Cash on hand and at banks 233,238.99 - - 233,238.99
Interbank placements 150,504.50 - - 150,504.50
Loans and advances, net 1,845,544.22 - - 1,845,544 .22
Investment securities 216,032.75 262,727.71 2,628.54 481,389.00
Other assets 23,469.83 484.89 - 23,954.72
Total 2,468,790.29 263,212.60 2,628.54 2,734,631.43
Non-derivative financial

liabilities
Due to non-bank customers 2,566,566.42 - - 2,566,566.42
Interbank liabilities 483.82 - - 483 .82
Funds segregated for LIFT-

AFP - 4.459.75 - 4,459.75
Accruals and other liabilities 60,378.55 - - 60,378.55
Total 2,627,428.79 4,459.75 . 2,631,888.54

The Bank monitors and maintains a level of bank balances deemed adequate by the director to finance the operation and mitigate the effects of fluctuation in
cash flow. In addition, the Bank maintains a statutory deposit with the CBM which should not be less than 5.00% of deposits. The Bank regularly monitors
its liquidity position to ensure also compliance with the 70% to 80% loan to deposit ratio (with upper limit of 80% for strict compliance) as mandated by the CBM as per
Financial Institution Supervision Department (“FISD”) Instruction No. (1/2008). The ratios during the year are as follows:

September 30, 2020 September 30, 2019

Year-end 67.39% 72.69%
Maximum 75.22% 73 88%
Minimum 67.39% 71.58%
Average 71.60% 72.87%

The Bank’s liquidity ratios as of September 30, 2020 and September 30, 2019 were 37.27% and 25.30%, respectively, and hence more than 20% requirement of the CBM as per
Notification No. (19/2017).
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5.3

5.4
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Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk arises from the potential change in interest rates which may have an adverse effect on the net interest income of the Bank in the current reporting period,
and/or future periods. Interest rate risk arises from the structure and characteristics of the Bank’s assets and liabilities, and in the mismatch in repricing dates of its assets and

liabilities.

The Bank is not significantly exposed to interest rate risk since all of its financial assets and liabilities are subject to fixed interest rates.

Foreign exchange risk

Foreign currency risk arises from the exposure
to the effects of fluctuation in the prevailing
foreign currency exchange rates to earnings and
economic value of foreign currency assets
and liabilities. The Bank’s foreign exchange
exposures comprise of trading and non-trading.
Non-trading foreign exchange exposures are
principally derived from international banking
business and foreign currency held due to
LIFT-AFP.

Foreign exchange risk is managed through policies and risk limits such as exposure by currency, which are regularly
monitored by the ALCO of the Bank.

Presented below is the Net Open Position (NOP) of the Bank as of September 30, 2020 and September 30, 2019, respectively,
based on CBM’s instruction No. (14/2016) dated 27 December 2016.
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September 30, 2019

In millions Assets Liabilities Net open position

MMK MMK MMK
United States Dollar 125,464 92 110,883.66 14.581.26
Euro 1,123.75 614.04 509.71
Singapore Dollar 481.96 2841 453.55
Japanese Yen 1.31 0.33 0.98
Others 6.43 0.10 6.33
Total 127,078.37 111,526.54 15,551.83
Total Tier I capital 108,799.03

NOP ratios as a percentage of Tier | capital as of September 30, 2020 and September 30, 2019 are as follows:

September 30, 2020 September 30, 2019
NOP ratio 5% 14%

Currency sensitivity

The following table details the sensitivity to a change in the relevant foreign currencies against the functional currency of the Bank. The sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusted for their translation at the period end for the change in foreign currency rates below.
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5.4

5.5
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Foreign exchange risk (CONT’D)

Currency sensitivity (CONT’D)

The following table sets out the increase
(decrease) to the Bank’s profit before tax arising
from a 10% appreciation of the relevant foreign
currency against the functional currency of the
Bank. A 10% depreciation will have the opposite
impact to the Bank’s profit before tax.

Strength in numbers

September 30, 2020 September 30, 2019
MMK MMK
775.01 1,458.13
153.41 50.97
17.41 45.36
0.71 0.01
0.52 0.63

The analysis calculates the effect of a reasonably possible movement of the currency rate against MMK, with all other variables held constant on profit before tax. A negative
amount reflects a potential net reduction in profit before tax while a positive amount reflects a net potential increase. There is no other impact on the Bank’s equity other than

those already affecting the profit or loss.

Operational risk

Operational risk which is inherent in all
business activities, is the potential for financial
loss and business instability arising from failures
in internal controls, operational processes or the
systems that support them.

The goal of operational risk management is to
balance cost and risk within the constraints of
the risk appetite of the Bank and to be consistent
with the prudent management required of a large
financial organization.

It is recognised that such risks can never be
entirely eliminated and that the cost of controls
in minimizing these risks may outweigh the
potential benefits. Accordingly, the Bank
continues to invest in risk management and
mitigation such as business continuity
management and incident management. In
reinforcing the implementation of the Bank’s risk
strategy, independent checks on risk issues are
undertaken by the internal audit function.

5.6

Legal and compliance risk

Legal risk is the risk that the business activities of
the Bank have unintended or unexpected
legal consequences. It includes risk arising from:

e Inadequate documentation, legal or
regulatory incapacity, insufficient authority
of a counterparty and uncertainty about
the validity or enforceability of a contract in
counterparty insolvency. Actual or potential
violations of law or regulation (including
activity unauthorized for a bank and which
may attract a civil or criinal fine or penalty);

e  Failure to protect the Bank’s property;
possibility of civil claims (includingacts or
other events which may lead to litigation
or other disputes); and loss or increased
charges associated with changes in, or errors
in the interpretation of, taxation rates or law.

Compliance risk arises from a failure or inability to comply
with the laws, regulations or codes applicable to the
financial services industry. Non-compliance can lead to
fines, public reprimands, and enforced suspension of
operations or, in extreme cases, withdrawal of authorization
to operate.

The Bank identifies and manages legal and compliance risk
through effective use of its internal and external legal
and compliance advisers.
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Capital Management

The objectives of the Bank’s capital management
are to maintain an optimal level of capital,
which is adequate to support business growth,
commensurate with the Bank’s risk profile and
meet the regulatory requirements. The
management of capital funds is centralised in
the Treasury department and monitored daily by
the Finance department.

On July 7, 2017, CBM has issued Instruction
No. 16/2017 for the revised method of capital
adequacy ratio calculation and its related
components. This new instruction has
significantly increased the composition of the
risk weighted assets subjecting most of the loans
to 100% risk weight including the off-balance
sheet items. In addition, for the capital
components, general loss reserve on credit losses
has been limited to the lower of 1.25% of the
total risk weighted assets and 2% general loss
reserve on credits. Total equity investment and
related party lending are also removed from the
capital calculation. The regulation is effective
immediately from the date of the issuance.

In millions September 30, 2020 September 30, 2019
MMK MMK

Tier 1 capital 188,276.65 108,799.03
Tier 2 capital 36,137.20 23,388.99
Total capital 224,413.85 132,188.02
Risk weighted assets 2,002,610.65 1,871,119.40
Tier 1 capital ratio 9.40% 5.81%
Capital adequacy ratio (CAR) 11.21% 7.06%
Minimum tier 1 CAR 4.00% 4.00%
Minimum regulatory CAR 8.00% 8.00%

On October 10, 2018, the CBM approved the request of the Bank for converting the International Finance Corporation
(IFC)’s convertible loan amounting to MMK 4.23 billion (out of MMK 4.86 billion) to 145,029 equity shares of the Bank.
It was converted on May 23, 2019.

On July 18, 2019, the CBM approved the request of the Bank for converting IFC’s remaining convertible loan amounting to
MMK 474.6 million to 3,643 equity shares of the Bank. It was converted on August 30, 2019.

Additionally, the Bank has received total share subscription of MMK 54 billion which was approved by CBM on May 29,
2020 and has been used to increase the Bank’s share capital by issuing new shares to the investor. As of September 30,

2020, the Bank is compliant with the CAR requirement as per CBM notification 16/2017 dated July 7, 2017.

The Bank’s overall strategy for capital management remains unchanged from September 30, 2019.
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7. Related Party Transactions

Compensation of Key Management Personnel

Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Bank, directly or indirectly,
including any director (whether executive or otherwise) of the Bank.

The following table sets out the compensation for key management personnel of the Bank in exchange for services rendered to the Bank during the year:

In millions September 30, 2020 September 30, 2019
MMK MMK

Salaries, wages, bonus and other benefits 3,624.80 4,551.16

Share-based payment expense 1,066.70 -

Benefit in kind 3.00 3.00

Transactions with Related Parties

For the purpose of these financial statements, JIn millions September 30,2020 September 30, 2019
parties are considered to be related to the Bank MMEK. MME.

if the Bank has the ability, directly or indirectly,
to control the party or exercise significant
influences over the party in making financial
and operating decisions, or vice versa, or where
the Bank and the party are subject to common

control or commonssignificant influences. Related g, o110 September 30, 2020 September 30, 2019
parties may be individuals or other entities.

Deposits 35,726.56 80,115.26

MMK MMK
All related party transactions were made in the ) ) .
ordinary course of business on an arm’s length ~ G2in on disposal of available-for-sale
basis. In addition to information disclosed "avestments (Note 21) 7,306.43 -
elsewhere in the financial statements, the Other income 38.50 86.08
following tables set out other significant Interest income 2 80.99
transactions and balances with related parties: Fotil income 734493 167,06
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7. Related Party Transactions (Cont’d)

Transactions with Related Parties (CON’T)

In millions September 30, 2020 September 30, 2019
MMK MMK

Interest expense on deposits 7.78 2,594.61

Rental expense 63.53 64.05

General and administrative expense 1,012.77 407.82

Total expenses 1,084.08 3,066.48

Rental expenses were paid to the following:

In millions September 30, 2020 September 30, 2019
MMK MMK

FMI Garden Development Limited 46.20 45.15

Thanlyin Estate Development Limited 17.33 18.90

63.53 64.05

General and administrative expenses include various operational charges from the following:

In millions September 30, 2020 September 30, 2019
MMK MMK
Yoma Fleet Limited 431.36 358.19
Greenwood Capital Private Limited 417.26 -
Pun Hlaing International Hospital Limited 146.62 275
Thanlyin Estate Development Limited 9.29 8.27
FMI Garden Development Limited 8.24 5.28
SPA Company Limited - 33.33
1,012.77 407.82
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8. Cash on Hand and at Banks

Pursuant to the CBM Notification No. 10/2015 on Minimum Reserve Requirement, the Bank is required to maintain a minimum reserve of 5% on total deposit balances for both
local and foreign currency deposits. Effective from October 1, 2020 to March 31, 2021, the minimum reserve requirement was reduced to 3.5% pursuant to CBM Instruction
No. 10/2020 dated September 22, 2020.

In millions September 30, 2020 September 30, 2019
MMK MMK
Cash on hand 99,964.68 61,543.53
Cash and balances with CBM 160,864.27 156,136.11
Cash with banks and other
financial institutions 33,047.27 15,559.35
293,876.22 233,238.99

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year as shown in the statements of cash flows can be reconciled to the related items as follows:

In millions September 30, 2020 September 30, 2019
MMK MMK
Cash on hand and at banks 293,876.22 233,238.99
Interbank placements 71,444.50 68,478.32
365,320.72 301,717.31

Interbank placements with maturity of three months or less from the date of acquisition are considered as cash equivalents since these are short-term, highly liquid
placements that are readily convertible to known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.
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9. Investment Securities

In millions September 30, 2020 September 30, 2019
MMK MMK
Held-to-maturity investments:
Myanmar Treasury bonds 500.00 500.00
Money market (deposit auction) - 35,000.00
500.00 35,500.00
Available-for-sale investments:
Myanmar Treasury bonds 337,511.50 267,217.07
Myanmar Treasury bills 441,682.59 176,043.39
Investment in Digital Money Myanmar 2,364.93 2,364.93
Investment in Myanmar Payment Union 200.00 200.00
Investment in Myanmar ICT Development Corporation
Limited (MICT) 56.50 56.50
Investment in SWIFT 5.56 6.07
Investment in Myanmar Credit Bureau 1.04 1.04
781,822.12 445,889.00
782,322.12 481,389.00
In millions September 30, 2020 September 30, 2019
MMK MMK
Current 544,158.14 216,032.75
Non-current 238,163.98 265,356.25

No impairment losses were incurred for the year ended September 30, 2020 and 2019.
Available-for-sale securities consists of government securities and unquoted equity investments.

The Bank has recognised dividend income from Myanmar ICT Development Corporation Limited amounting to MMK 6.78 million for the year ended September 30, 2020 and
2019.
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10. Loans and Advances, Net
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In millions September 30, 2020 September 30, 2019
MMK MMK
Demand loans 1,101,376.78 932,384.35
Digital credit 49,087.33 21,556.18
Overdrafts 358,714.67 526,969.97
Hire purchase 252,996.79 166,922.74
Home loan 154,578.87 122,310.23
Hire purchase — Agri Finance Product (AFP) 60,261.62 64,500.25
Staff loans 1,618.14 1,223.58
Trade financing 43,595.07 30,106.23
Loans and advances, gross 2,022,229.27 1,865,973.53
Less: partial payments on NPLs (1,659.41) (891.05)
Sub total 2,020,569.86 1,865,082.48
Less: Specific allowance
Loans and advances per CBM regulation (23,839.98) (19,538.26)
Future losses (16,000.00) -
Loans and advances, net 1,980,729.88 1,845,544.22

The specific allowance includes loans and advances and LIFT-AFP:

In millions September 30, 2020 September 30, 2019
MMK MMK
Specific provision 33,867.66 13,656.17
Other provision - restructured loans 144.97 7.93
LIFT-AFP 5,827.35 5,874.16
39,839.98 19,538.26

Strength in numbers
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Details of loans and advances allowance for impairment losses by collectability are as follows:

In millions September 30, 2020 September 30, 2019

Principal Specific Allowance Principal Specific Allowance
MMK MMK MMK MMK
Current 1,750,858.28 - 1,699,925.23 -
Standard 117,653.07 1,312.01 71,601.68 27.49
Watch 45,287.44 1,563.24 16,088.31 8.17
Substandard 23,026.10 1,040.12 9,752.03 20.47
Doubtful 14,210.21 1,171.48 17,324.39 450.65
Loss 71,194.17 18,753.13 51,281.89 19,031.48
Specific provision for

future losses(! - 16,000.00 - -
2,022,229.27 39,839.98 1,865,973.53 19,538.26
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10. Loans and Advances, Net (Cont’d)

(1) Although significant portion of the loans A reconciliation of the specific allowance for impairment losses for the loans and advances is presented below. Total
and advances under the PPP are classified as  balance at the end of the year includes LIFT-AFP Fund balances amounting to MMK 5,827,353,330 and MMK 5,874,156,390
current, these are exposed to a higher risk as of September 30, 2020 and September 30, 2019, respectively, which is to be held as a loan loss buffer, the money for
of default as a result of COVID-19. which is provided by LIFT. As such, total specific provision for loans and advances, and other provision for restructured

loans are MMK 34,012,629,320 and MMK 13,664,102,367 as of September 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

In millions September 30, 2020 September 30, 2019
MMK MMK

Balance at beginning of year 19,538.26 12,961.19
Specific provision on loans and advances charged for the year 12,401.53 7,196.02
Specific provision for future losses charged for the year(" 16,000.00 -
Adjustment for restructured loans 137.04 344.00
Write-off during the year (8,086.35) (232.92)
Adjustment for foreign exchange difference (103.70) (10.29)
Total allowance for impairment losses by collectability 39,886.78 20,258.00
Transferred to LIFT-AFP® (46.80) (719.74)
Balance at end of year 39,839.98 19,538.26

(1) During the year, the Bank recognised additional specific provision for future losses on loans and advances as a result of COVID-19 totaling to MMK 16,000 million. This
additional provision is on top of provision under CBM requirements. Due to the uncertainty and deteriorating impact of the economy due to COVID-19, the Bank expects
higher risk of default of its loans and advances.

(2) In 2018, the Bank and the Fund has agreed to transfer AFP fund amounting to MMK 6.59 billion as part of the specific provision. For the year ended September 30, 2020
and 2019, the Bank has used the provision amounting to MMK 46.8 million and MMK 719.74 million, respectively, for its HP AFP product.
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11. Property And Equipment

In millions

Cost

At October 1, 2019
Additions

Disposal

Adjustment

Write-offs

Revaluation adjustment

At September 30, 2020

Accumulated depreciation
At October 1, 2019

Charge for the financial year
Disposals

Adjustment
Write-offs
Revaluation adjustment

At September 30, 2020

Carrying amount at September 30, 2020

Notes to financial statements for Year Ended September 30, 2020

Fumiture Leasehold
Land Building Office equipment and fitting Motor vehicle improvements Total
MMK MMK MMK MMK MMK MMK MMK
4,853.38 6,486.43 17,141.11 2,707.29 2,931.95 6,416.39 40,536.55
- 655.41 3,772.07 250.91 3.53 1,773.62 6,455.54
- - (8.53) - (29.00) - (37.53)
- 40.95 (8.89) - - (1,383.14) (1,351.08)
- (5.26) (427.07) (77.67) (3.97) - (513.97)
6,849.00 3,630.58 - - - - 10,479.58
11,702.38 10,808.11 20,468.69 2,880.53 2,902.51 6,806.87 55,569.09
- 556.75 6,741.63 479.41 1,772.51 3,295.68 12,845.98
- 106.36 2,454.05 135.12 347.41 1,483.70 4,526.64
- - (8.53) - (29.00) - (37.53)
- 40.95 - - - (1,383.14) (1,342.19)
- (1.54) (285.24) (24.57) (3.90) - (315.25)
- (624.99) - - - - (624.99)
- 77.53 8,901.91 589.96 2,087.02 3,396.24 15,052.66
11,702.38 10,730.58 11,566.78 2,290.57 815.49 3,410.63 40,516.43
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Notes to Financial Statements for Year Ended September 30, 2020

11. Property and Equipment (Cont’d)

In millions

Cost

At October 1, 2018
Additions
Disposal
Adjustment
Write-offs

At September 30, 2019

Accumulated depreciation
At October 1, 2018

Charge for the financial year
Disposals

Adjustment
Write-offs

At September 30, 2019
Carrying amount at September 30, 2019

138

Furniture Leasehold
Land Building Office equipment and fitting Motor vehicle improvements Total
MMEK MMK MMK MMK MMK MMK MMK
5,037.56 5,315.28 14,398.94 2,522.12 3,023.35 7,582.16 37,879.41
- 1,405.80 3,137.93 289.42 54.92 221.20 5,109.27
- - (3.99) - (144.91) - (148.90)
- - (0.58) (0.03) - (1,386.11) (1,386.72)
(184.18) (234.65) (391.19) (104.22) (1.41) (0.86) (916.51)
4,853.38 6,486.43 17,141.11 2,707.29 2,931.95 6,416.39 40,536.55
- 551.56 4,935.57 392.89 1,571.14 3,232.58 10,683.74
- 63.47 2,112.97 123.90 34451 1,449.21 4,094.06
- - (3.99) - (141.73) - (145.72)
- - (0.58) - - (1,385.41) (1,385.99)
- (58.28) (302.34) (37.38) (1.41) (0.70) (400.11)
- 556.75 6,741.63 479.41 1,772.51 3,295.68 12,845.98
4,853.38 5,929.68 10,399.48 2,227.88 1,159.44 3,120.71 27,690.57




Notes to financial statements for Year Ended September 30, 2020

11. Property and Equipment (Cont’d)

The Bank’s land and buildings are stated at their revaluation of MMK 11,104,563,315 is recognised as part of revaluation surplus under “Reserves” (Note 18).

revalued amounts at fair value as approved

by CBM in notification No. 3954/AA(1)/3/797/ Had the Bank’s land and buildings been measured on a historical cost basis, their carrying amount would have been as
2018-2019. The difference between the revalued follows:

amounts and carrying amounts prior to

In millions September 30, 2020 September 30, 2019
MMK MMK

Land 4,853.38 4,853.38

Building 6,475.01 5,929.68

11,328.39 10,783.06
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Notes to Financial Statements for Year Ended September 30, 2020

12. Software, Licenses and Rights

140

In millions

Cost

At October 1, 2019
Additions

Write-off

At September 30, 2020

Amortisation

At October 1, 2019

Charged during the year

Write-off

At September 30, 2020

Carrying amount at September 30,
2020

In millions

Cost

At October 1, 2018
Additions
Adjustments

At September 30, 2019

Amortisation

At October 1, 2018

Charged during the year

At September 30, 2019

Carrying amount at September 30,
2019

Strength in numbers

Computer software Licenses & rights Total
MMK MMK MMK
5,558.40 2,256.30 7,814.70
457.08 1,144.83 1,601.91
(24.09) - (24.09)
5,991.39 3,401.13 9.392.52
2,255.76 654.43 2,910.19
1,161.35 620.56 1,781.91
(12.57) - (12.57)
3,404.54 1,274.99 4,679.53
2,586.85 2,126.14 4,712.99
Computer software Licenses & rights Total
MMK MMK MMK
3,688.90 2,256.30 5,945.20
1,869.80 - 1,869.80
(0.30) - (0.30)
5,558.40 2.256.30 7,814.70
1,292.68 428.80 1,721.48
963.08 225.63 1,188.71
2,255.76 654.43 2,910.19
3,302.64 1,601.87 4,904.51
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13. Other Assets

In millions September 30, 2020 September 30, 2019
MMK MMK
Interest receivable from loan customers, net (! 12,634.20 11,726.55
Interest receivable from investments 14,498.75 11,591.59
Prepaid expenses 15,143.55 22,198.81
Repossessed properties, net ) 1,138.33 3,213.78
Derivative assets ¢ 438.30 4,922.02
Account receivable — others 348.02 151.69
Deferred rent 63.47 122.12
44.264.62 53,926.56

(M Interest receivable from loan customers, net consists of the following:

In millions September 30, 2020 September 30, 2019
MMK MMK

Interest receivable from loan customers 13,329.02 31,970.13

Sundry deposit — interest in suspense (694.82) (20,243.58)

12,634.20 11,726.55
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(2) The Bank took possession of properties properties were carried at the lower of the carrying amount of the loan outstanding and fair value of the property. The
(land and building) which were held as repossessed properties will be sold as soon as practicable, at auction, to settle the outstanding debt. Details of repossessed
security for defaulted loan. The repossessed  properties as of September 30, 2020 and 2019 are as follows:

In millions September 30, 2020 September 30, 2019
MMK MMK
Cost 2,909.79 5,542.84
Specific provision (1,771.46) (2,329.06)
1,138.33 3,213.78

A reconciliation of the specific allowance for impairment losses for the repossessed properties is presented below:

In millions September 30, 2020 September 30, 2019
MMK MMK

Balance at beginning of year 2,329.06 150.82

Charge for the year 423.97 2,178.24

Reversals (981.57) -

Balance at end of year 1,771.46 2,329.06
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13. Other Assets (Cond’t)

(3) Details of derivative assets as of September 30, 2020 and 2019 are as follows:

In millions September 30, 2020 September 30, 2019
Notional
Amount Fair Value Notional Amount Fair Value
MMK MMK MMK MMK
Forward 5,934.00 438.30 - 2
Swaps - - 4,914.94 492202
5,934.00 438.30 4,914.94 4,922.02

14. Due to Non-bank Customers
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15. Funds Restricted for Lift-AFP

144

On December 18, 2015, the Bank signed a grant
support agreement (“LIFT Agreement”) with
the Livelihoods and Food Security Trust Fund
(“LIFT”), which is a multi-donor trust fund
managed by the United Nations Office for Project
Services (“UNOPS”) to implement two programs
- Partial Risk Guarantee Fund (“PRGF”) and
Individual Development Accounts (“IDA”). Based
on the amendment on December 19, 2017, the
amount for the AFP has been amended from USD

12.5 million to USD 12.2 million, for the IDA from USD 4 million to USD 2.5 million, and the remainder of USD 0.01 million
is for reimbursable operating and indirect costs of the Bank to implement the two programs.

On October 30, 2018, the Bank and UNOPS agreed on the formal proposal for a no-cost extension of the AFP through
December 31, 2019. The implementation strategy and budget categories remain unchanged from the revised budget.

As part of the AFP, per the LIFT Agreement, a PRGF will guarantee a portion of the Bank’s agricultural hire purchase
lending and under secured lending. Per the agreement, the Bank may reclassify the PRGF as part of the “reserve for bad
and doubtful debts”. IDA funds can be utilized by the Bank to implement a small savings deposit program to promote
financial inclusion.

All AFP expenses are recorded in profit or loss based on the nature of the expense incurred for LIFT-AFP.
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16. Accruals and other Liabilities

In millions September 30, 2020 September 30, 2019
MMK MMK
Interest payable to depositors 22,950.33 29,176.07
Accrued expenses 11,194.99 11,619.35
Sundry deposit 6,034 81 9,354.63
Tax provision 5,927.98 8,134.73
Unclaimed liabilities 4,058.32 4,061.57
Deferred revenue 3,980.28 5,449.74
Card settlement account 1,704.76 3,534.14
Other provision 1,125.24 294.45
Payment order 1,078.27 1,747.03
Share-based payment liability(" 1,066.70 =
Remittance in transit 250.51 870.91
Accrual unearned account - penalty interest 109.01 405.58
Debit note issued account 25.10 -
Gift cheque account 12.97 13.13
Derivative liabilities® - 4.837.81
Accounts payable — others - 1.72
59,519.27 79,500.86

(1) The Board of Directors approved a share
option scheme for selected senior executives
of the Bank. In accordance with the terms of
the plan, selected senior executives may be
granted options to purchase ordinary
shares at an exercise price of USD$ 1 per
ordinary share.

Each employee share option converts into the allotted number of shares (“Scheme Shares”) specified in the option
subject to conditions. No amounts are paid or payable by the recipient on receipt of the option. The options are entitled
to amounts equivalent to the dividends declared and do not carry voting rights. Options are only exercisable upon
occurrence of either public listing of the Bank, investment of certain value by an investor or termination of employment
on the grounds provided in the rules of the share option scheme.
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16. Accruals and other Liabilities (Cont’d)

146

In the event that the required approvals,
registration, consents, authorization or
permission could not be obtained, or there is
change in law or other rules and regulation that
prevents issuance of allotted shares, the option
will be settled in cash equivalent to the fair
value of the allotted shares. Vested options may
also be converted to cash at the option of the
employee in case of employment termination by
mutual agreement, voluntary resignation, death,
disability or redundancy.

In millions

Details of share-based payment arrangements in existence and share options during the year are as follows:

. Grant date: September 30, 2020

. Scheme Shares to be issued pursuant to options granted: 29,802
e Subscription price: USD$1

e Average remaining contractual life to vesting: 1.84 years

September 30,2020 September 30,2019
Number of Scheme Number of Scheme Shares
Shares

The fair value of options granted on September 30, 2020 was MMK 151,263 per share which was determined using the intrinsic value approach. In determining the intrinsic
value of the shares, the Bank used the market multiple approach by referencing to recent market transactions.

The Bank recognised total expenses of MMK 1,066,700,000 related to cash-settled share-based payment transactions during the year (Note 23).

(2) Details of derivative liabilities as of September 30, 2020 and 2019 are as follows:

September 30, 2020 September 30, 2019
Notional
Amount Fair Value Notional Amount Fair Value
MMK MMK MMK MMK
Swaps - - 10,396.70 483781
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17. Share Capital

The total amount of issued and paid-up capital was made in accordance with section 60(B) of the Myanmar Companies Law.

The Bank has issued 150,000 shares and 112,000 shares at a premium rate of MMK 115,000 per share in fiscal year 2016 and 2017, respectively. During the
group reporting to the majority shareholder of the Bank for the year ended March 31, 2019, the share premium amounting to MMK 30.13 billion formed part of its share
capital in compliance with the Myanmar Companies Law, however, since the fiscal year ended September 30, 2019, all share premium was presented as a separate line item
in the statement of financial position in compliance with CBM instruction.

On May 29, 2020, the Bank issued 414,447 new shares (equivalent to MMK 54 billion) to Greenwood Capital Private Limited upon receipt of approval from CBM on the same
day.
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18. Reserves

The details of reserves are as follows:

(1) In compliance with Section 35(a) of the FIL 2016, 25% of the net profit after tax will be set aside as statutory reserve fund at the end of the fiscal year and is not
distributable as cash dividends.

(2) Incompliance with CBM Instruction No. 17/2017, 2% of total balance of loans and advances will be set aside as reserve for general provision on loans and advances at
the end of the fiscal year.

(3) Based on CBM Notification Letter No. 74/KaKa (1)/3/17/2019-2020 dated October 8, 2019, which was approved by the Bank’s Board of Directors, the Bank, as agreed
with IFC, transferred MMK 150 million to the reserves for general provision on loans and advances.
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19. Net Interest Income

Interest income comprises interest arising o
from various types of lending and investment In millions September 30, 2020 September 30, 2019
activities. Interest expense comprises all interest MMK MMK
incurred on deposits and borrowings from bank

and non-bank customers. Interest income and Operations:

expense include the following:

Interest from demand loans 119,134.53 101,893.99
Interest from overdrafts 55,366.81 68,415.53
Interest from hire purchase 27,503.65 21,986.07
Interest from home loan 15,288.77 12,232.88
Interest from hire purchase- AFP 7,951.76 8,827.56
Interest from staff loans 130.39 103.13
Total operating interest income 225,375.91 213,459.16
Investments:

Interest from investment securities 49,866.69 35,637.96
Interest from interbank placements 10,345.98 12,678.46
Total investment interest income 60,212.67 48,316.42
Interest from trade finance 3,970.38 3,740.64
Total interest income 289,558.96 265,516.22
Fixed deposit 84,404.55 84,948.20
Savings deposit 51,185.14 49,150.28
Call deposit 37,376.55 34,086.81
1 Zu deposit 1,334.67 1,387.90
Interest expense from non-bank customer deposits 174,300.91 169,573.19
Interest expense from interbank deposits 82.49 360.05
Total interest expense 174,383.40 169,933.24
Net interest income 115,175.56 95,582.98
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20. Fee and Commission Income

150

Fees, commission and service charges income
are generated from the range of activities that the
Bank provides. Below is the breakdown of fees
and commission income and expenses.

In millions

Fee and commission income:
Loan and overdraft fees

Fees and commissions from hire purchase, AFP
Trade finance fees

Remittance fees

Payment order fees

Locker rental fees

Swift charges

Commissions

Other charges and fees

Net fee and commission income

September 30, 2020 September 30, 2019
MMK MMK

6,757.57 7,391.15
2,983.39 2,955.04
2,489.70 2,548.33
1,484.78 1,928.02
53.00 46.00
22.02 22.93
14.83 13.73
1.49 2.84
2,446.63 2,421.89
16,253.41 17,329.93

Strength in numbers
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21. Other Income

®

On May 31, 2016, FMI and the Bank entered into an agreement for transfer of sale shares in Wave Money, whereby the Bank agreed to transfer its interest, representing
44% in aggregate of the total shares of Wave Money.

On March 30, 2018, the Bank and FMI agreed that the consideration for the sale of 34% of the total shares in Wave Money is MMK 25.8 billion, wherein, the Bank received
MMK 18.03 billion as payment from FMI and recognised a gain on sale amounting to MMK 6.21 billion in which capital gains tax was paid. On November 22, 2019, the
consideration of MMK 7.31 billion for the sale of the remaining 10% shares in Wave Money was agreed between the Bank and FMI and a corresponding gain on sale of
available-for-sale investments was recognised in profit or loss for which capital gains tax has been paid.
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Notes to Financial Statements for Year Ended September 30, 2020

22. General and Administrative Expenses

152

In millions September 30, 2020 September 30, 2019
MMK MMK
Marketing and advertising 3,253.86 4,230.13
Telecommunication and postage 2,298.59 2,210.72
Repair and maintenance 1,995.29 947.08
Office supplies 1,408.28 1,559.97
Utilities expense 747.93 568.32
Travel and entertainment 606.93 1,305.44
IT and software costs 426.19 322.55
Remittance handling expenses 123.50 113.97
Swift charges 67.44 76.40
Other administrative expenses 1,094.17 976.59
12,022.18 12.311.17




.A
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23. Personnel Expenses

In millions

Salaries and wages

Employee bonuses

Employee allowance

Share-based payment expense (Note 16)

Employer’s contribution to defined contribution plan
Income tax and social security contribution

Other welfare benefits

September 30, 2020

Notes to financial statements for Year Ended September 30, 2020

September 30, 2019

MMK MMK

14,875.64 14,066.36
5,500.00 6,399.33
1,067.80 2,433.35
1,066.70 -
443.36 538.97

197.23 182.37
15,252.91 12,536.69
38,403.64 36,157.07
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24.Other Expenses
In millions September 30, 2020 September 30, 2019
MMK MMK
Consultancy expenses 4,776.46 8,857.70
Rates and taxes 8,620.93 2,786.29
Other losses and write-off 1,122.36 837.87
Legal fees 413.05 700.17
Insurance 355.90 251.96
Auditor fees 165.26 224.39
Amortisation of rent expense 58.66 58.50
Maintenance fees for correspondent bank 27.46 3142
Commission expense for Home loans 43.42 16.94
Refunds, discounts and interest 3.10 6.21
Other fees and expenses 77.26 323.36
15,663.86 14,094.81
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25. Income Tax Expense

Domestic income tax is calculated at 25% (September 30, 2019: 25%) of the estimated assessable income for the year.

The total charge for the year can be reconciled to the accounting profit as follows:

In millions September 30, 2020 September 30, 2019
MMK MMK

Profit before tax per statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income 31,406.60 26,483.01
Income tax expense calculated at statutory rate 7,851.65 6,620.76
Tax effect of non-deductible expense (non-taxable income):

2% general provision on loans and advances 781.28 1,522.85
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale investments (1,826.61) -
Gain on disposal of property and equipment (7.34) (11.97)
Dividend income (1.70) (1.70)
Tax effect of COVID-19 Economic Relief Plan (872.24) -
Capital gains tax 2.94 4.79
Income tax expense 5,927.98 8,134.73
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26.

27.

156

Contingent Liabilities

Strength in numbers

The following sets out the Bank’s contingent liabilities as at the end of the reporting period, based on the maximum amount the Bank would have to pay if the obligations of

the instruments issued are called upon:

In millions September 30, 2020 September 30, 2019
MMK MMK

Letter of credit (foreign currency) 22.225.57 30,491.75

Performance guarantees 15,640.07 4,739.22

Performance guarantees (foreign currency) 8,392.26 2.,916.00
46,257.90 38,146.97

[ ]
Commitments

At the end of the reporting period, the Bank has the following commitments:
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28. Maturity Analysis of Assets and Liabilities

The table shows an analysis of assets and liabilities analysed according to when they are expected to be recovered or settled.

September 30, 2019

In millions Less than 1 Year More than 1 Year Total

MMK MMK MMK
Assets
Cash on hand and at banks 293,876.22 - 293,876.22
Interbank placements 154,583.00 - 154,583.00
Loans and advances, net 1,980,729.88 - 1,980,729.88
Investment securities 544,158.14 238,163.98 782,322.12
Property and equipment - 40,516.43 40,516.43
Software, licenses and rights - 4,712.99 4,712.99
Other assets 31,220.67 13,043.95 44,264.62
Total assets 3,004,567.91 296,437.35 3,301,005.26
Liabilities
Due to non-bank customers 3,000,005.99 - 3,000,005.99
Interbank deposits 587.90 - 587.90
Funds restricted for LIFT-AFP - 996.30 996.30
Accruals and other liabilities 55,460.95 4,058.32 59,519.27
Total liabilities 3,056,054.84 5,054.62 3,061,109.46
Net assets (51,486.93) 291,382.73 239,895.80
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Notes to Financial Statements for Year Ended September 30, 2020

September 30, 2019

158

In millions Less than 1 Year More than 1 Year Total
MMK MMK MMK
Assets
Cash on hand and at banks 233,238.99 - 233,238.99
Interbank placements 150,504.50 - 150,504.50
Loans and advances, net 1,845,544 .22 - 1,845,544.22
Investment securities 216,032.75 265,356.25 481,389.00
Property and equipment - 27,690.57 27,690.57
Software, licenses and rights - 4,904.51 4,904.51
Other assets 34,325.21 19,601.35 53,926.56
Total assets 2,479,645.67 317,552.68 2,797,198.35
Liabilities
Due to non-bank customers 2,566,566.42 - 2,566,566.42
Interbank deposits 483.82 - 483.82
Funds restricted for LIFT-AFP - 4,459.75 4,459.75
Accruals and other liabilities 75,439.29 4,061.57 79,500.86
Total liabilities 2,642,489.53 8,512.32 2,651,010.85
Net assets (162,843.86) 309,031.36 146,187.50
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29. Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made to the
prior year’s financial statements to enhance
comparability with the current year financial
statements due to the presentation of interest
in suspense and partial loan payments as part of
other liabilities instead of deducting them from
the interest receivable and loans and advances
accounts, respectively.

As aresult, certain line items for the comparative
figures have been amended in the statement of
financial position and related notes to the financial
statements.

In millions

Statement of financial position
Loans and advances, net
Other assets
Accrued and other liabilities

In millions

Statement of financial position
Loans and advances, net
Other assets
Accrued and other liabilities

Notes to financial statements for Year Ended September 30, 2020

Before reclassification After reclassification
September 30, 2019 September 30, 2019
MMK MMK
1,846,435.27 1,845,544.22
74,170.13 53,926.56
100,635.48 79,500.86
Before reclassification After reclassification
September 30, 2018 September 30, 2018
MMK MMK

1,540,942.16
64,134.20
88,868.97

Before reclassification

1,540,605.56
55,085.83
79,484.00

After reclassification

In millions September 30, 2019 September 30, 2019
MMK MMK
Statement of cash flows
Net cash provided by operating activities 199,792.56 157,548.89
Net cash provided by financing activity 165.44 31544
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 65,884.18 119,740.49
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 167,354.81 181,976.82
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 233,238.99 301,717.31
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30.Events After Reporting Period

30.1

30.2

30.3

30.4
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During the second half of FY2020, the Bank has continued to work on plans which were adjusted based on the evolving macroeconomic situations. The Bank has identified
the following 4 underlying priorities for the 2021 strategic plan:

Supporting its customers and people during COVID-19

In the first weeks of FY2021 the Bank has seen the impacts of COVID-19 increasing exponentially, with full lockdown measures imposed by the government and significant
financial difficulties faced by businesses and individual customers. To address this, the Bank is doubling down on programs such as Credit Care and PPP to manage its
relationships with customers very closely by providing solutions to aid the customers who need to repay their loans. After the success of its PPP Wave 1, the Bank has just
launched a more tailored approach with PPP Wave 2 which has been well received by the customers.

Protecting the Bank and managing risk
The Bank will protect its balance sheet with measures such as factoring in an adequate provision, taking into account a potential increase in NPLs, while on the Anti-Money
Laundering (“AML”) and Know Your Customer (“KYC”) fronts, it is investing a significant amount of resources and work to deliver its Anti-Money Laundering and

Combating the Financing of Terrorism (“AML/CFT”) program. Additionally, the Bank has ran stress scenarios where the outcomes have ensured adequate liquidity andcapital
under significant stress conditions.

Laying the Bank’s strategic foundation for when recovery occurs

In 2021, the Bank will largely continue the strategic initiatives that have kicked off in 2020, with some slight re-adjustments to ensure more integration across the initiatives
and to build all the capabilities required to scale the initiatives in the coming years.

Revenue and short-term profit growth

Each quarter will see tangible outputs to the market, which will provide a better service to the Bank’s customers and boost frontline morale. Each initiative will have phased
milestones across the four sprint cycles to ensure the Bank has go-live dates in each quarter.
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The pattala, a traditional Burmese xylophone, was used to create the distinctive
Yoma Bank sonic trigger at the end of our new television commercials.
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Our Reach across Myanmar

Branch List & Contact Information

Yangon

¢ Ahlone Branch

Building No. 388-398, Room No. Al-A5, Ground Floor,
Mingalar Sinminn Housing, Strand Rd, Ahlone Township,
Yangon.

Tel: +95 1212435, 212436

e Bayintnaung Branch

No. Nya 51, Yuzana St, Bayintnaung Pwe Yone Tan,
Mayangone Township, Yangon.

Tel: +95 1681011, 681837, 681573

e Botahtaung Branch

No. 148/150/152, Botahtaung Pagoda Rd, Botahtaung
Township, Yangon.

Tel: +95 1201072, 290194, 290216

¢ FMI Center Branch

No. 397, Room (K/B), Upper Shwebonthar St, Pabaedan
Township, Yangon.

Tel: +95 1252849, 243023, 246822

¢ Htauk Kyant Branch

No.(27,27/Ka), Bago Road, Bago Lann Ward, Htauk Kyant,
Mingalardon Tsp, Yangon.T

el: +95 19437223, 9437244

 Hlaing Tharyar Branch
No. B1, FMI City, Hlaing Tharyar Township, Yangon.
Tel: +95 13680800, 3681400, 3682319

 Insein Branch

No. 38, Lanthit St, Nantthargone Ward, Insein Township,
Yangon.

Tel: +9513640041, 3640042, 3640020
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e Kamayut Branch

No. (F/S -12), Ground Floor, Shwe Sabae Yeikmon Housing,
4th Ward, Bayintnaung Road, Kamayut Township, Yangon.
Tel: + 951527366, 505738, 502843

e Kyauktada Branch

No. 287-289, Bo Aung Kyaw St, Between Mahar Banhtoola
Road and Ahnawyahtar Road, Kyauktada Township,
Yangon.

Tel: +95 18398272, 8398273, 8398274

¢ Lanmadaw Branch
No. (33), Wardan St, Lanmadaw Township, Yangon.
Tel: +951 224614, 211563

e Lanmadaw (Thanzay) Branch
No. 133, Lanmadaw Street, Lanmadaw Township, Yangon.
Tel: +95 12303273, 2303274, 2303275

e Mayangone Branch

No. 114-A, Pyay Road, Ward 4, Mayangone Township,
Yangon.

Tel: +95 1650387, 650162, 651270, 651271

e Mingalar Taung Nyunt Branch

No. 8/9/10/11, Building(D/E) Shwe Mya Yar Housing,
Myanma Gone Yi St, Mingalartaungnyunt Township,
Yangon.

Tel: +95 1370360, 370363

e Mingalarzay Branch

No. 133, Building No. B(G-2), Corner of Industrial Rd and
Bominyaung Rd, Yaetwinkone Ward, Mingalartaungnyunt
Township, Yangon.

Tel: +951 203490, 202234, 202235, 202237
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e Myanmar Plaza Branch

No. 05/B, Ground Floor, Myanmar Plaza, Corner of
Kabaraye Rd & Sattmu 1 Rd, Bahan Township, Yangon.
Tel: +95 1 9345246-48

¢ Myaynigone Branch

No. 267A, Pyay Rd, Myaynigone, Sanchaung Township,
Yangon.

Tel: +95 1503104, 501424, 503175, 500611, 501421

¢ North Dagon Branch

No. 3/8, Bayintnaung Rd, Pinlon Housing, 27 Ward,
North Dagon Township, Yangon,

Tel: +95 1 581162

¢ North Okkalapa Branch

No. 695, (Sa) Ward, Thu Damma Road, North Okkalapa
Township, Yangon.

Tel: +95 19691730, 9691731, 9691732

e North Okkalapa (Thiri Yadana) Branch

Building (A/2), Rm (1,2,3), Thiri Yadana Market, Thu Damma
Road, North Okkalapa Township, Yangon.

Tel: +951 9691035, 9691036, 9691037

* Sawbwargyi Gone Branch

Section No. 19, Rooms 4-5, Kyauksein 5th St, Sawbwargyi
Pwe Yone Tan, Insein Township, Yangon.

Tel: +951 642122, 642546, 643298

¢ South Dagon Branch

No.1486, Pyay Htaung Su Rd, 24 Ward, South Dagon
Township, Yangon.

Tel: +951 591430, 591484, 591483, 591498, 591429

¢ South Okkalapa Branch

No. 464, Thitsar Road, 3rd Ward, South Okkalapa
Township, Yangon.

Tel: +95 1 8569760, 8569701

* South Okkalapa (Thanthumar) Branch

No.9, Than Thu Mar Road, 14 Ward, South Okkalapa
Township, Yangon.

Tel: +95 1 8564413, 8500257

« Strand Branch
No.89, Theinphyu Road, Botataung Township, Yangon.
Tel: +951 8370090, 8370091, 8370092, 8370095, 8370096

« Shwepyithar Branch

No. 18, 5/5 Ward, Bayintnaung Street, Shwepyithar
Township, Yangon.

Tel: +95 1 3611719, 3611712, 3611718

« Taikkyi Branch
No. 30, Bhayar Lay Street, Zay Ward, Taikkyi Township,
Yangon

» Tamwe Branch

No. 1/33, Block A, Room (01-19,19/B), Myittar Yeik Mon
Housing Tha Mein Ba Yan Road, Tamwe Township,
Yangon.

Tel: +95 9 43179761

 Thanlyin (Star City) Branch
Star City Housing, Thanlyin Township, Yangon.
Tel: +95 56 23280, 23281

e Time City Branch

Building (5-6), Rm (A-119), Level 1, Jewellery Mall, Time City,
No.37, between Kyun Taw Road and Hantharwaddy Road,
7 Quarter, Kamayut Township, Yangon region.

Tel: +95 1 8601077, 8601078

e Thinkangyun Branch

Building No. 38 (A-3/005-6), Ground Floor, Lay Daungt Kan
Road, Thinkangyun Township, Yangon.

Tel: +951570697,578824

Our Reach across Myanmar

» Tharkayta Branch

No. 1319, Rm (10/A), Near Kamarkyi Bridge, Shukhinnthar
Road, Tharkayta Township, Yangon.

Tel: +95 1553239, 553244, 553356

o Tharkayta (1 Zay) Branch

No. 9/A, Zingama Street (West), Second North Ward,
Tharkayta Township, Yangon.

Tel: +95 1 559082, 553054

 Yangon Main Branch
No. 1 Kunchan St, Mingalartaungnyunt Township, Yangon.
Tel: +95 1242138, 246547, 249241

e Yankin Branch

Apt No. 206, Room 4, Yanshin Rd Yankin Apartments,
Yankin Township, Yangon.

Tel: +95 1541744, 545846, 545846, 545847

Mandalay

* 19th Street

Block 7, Taung Dwar Kaung Ward, 19th Street, Between
62 St & 63 St, Aungmyay Tharzan Township, Mandalay.
Tel: +95 2 4075708, 4075709, 4075710

* 35th St (Maharnwesin)

No.(Ka/5), 35th Street, Between 70 St x 71 St, Thiri Yeik
Thar, Maharnwesin Ward, Mahar Aung Myay Township,
Mandalay. Tel: +95 2 4030482-3

¢ 62nd Street (Manaw Hari) Branch

NO. 20 D-2, 4th Ward, Corner of 62 Street & Manaw Hari
Street, Chanmya Tharsi Township, Mandalay.

Tel: +95 2 82203-10

163



Strength in numbers

Our Reach across Myanmar

¢ 62nd Street (Industrial Zone 1) Branch

Za Ward, 62nd Street, Between Sanpya Street and Thakhin
Phoehlagyi Street, Industrial Zone 1, Pyigyitagon Township,
Mandalay.

Tel: +95 2 5154752, 5154753, 5154754

» 78th Street Branch

No. A6-A8, 78th St (between 32nd and 33rd St),
Chanayetharzan Township, Mandalay.

Tel: +95 2 4039460, 4039461, 4039468, 4039469

* Kywesekan Branch

No. Salain-79, Corner of Yangon Mandalay Rd and 9th St,
Kywesekan-Pyigyi Takhon Township, Mandalay.

Tel: +95 2 4070746, 4070748, 4070749, 4070750

e Mandalay Main Branch

No. 201, 83th St (between 27th and 28th St), Chanayetharzan
Township, Mandalay.

Tel: +95 2 4031697, 4039357, 4039465, 4039476, 4035013

e Manmyo Zay Branch

No. 352, 84th St (between 39th and 40th St), Mahar
Aungmyay Township, Mandalay.

Tel: +95 2 4076182, 4076183, 4076184, 4076185

e Saing Tang Branch

No. 14/187, Bayint Naung Road, 26-B Street, Between
87 Street & 88 Street, Aungmyay Tharzan Township,
Mandalay.

Tel: +95 2 4031352, 4034109, 4035647, 4035684, 4034109,
4039327, 4039328, 4039329

Other

¢ Aung Lan Branch
UPaing No. 162/164, Pyay Road, Tayawgone Ward, Aung Lan.
Tel: +95 69 200698, 200699, 200828

e Aung Pan Branch

Lot No. 18/368, No. 23, Ward 4, Aung Pan.
Tel: +95 81 60482, 60483, 60490, 60491, 50492
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¢ Bago Branch

No. 429,Thanutpin Street, Shin Saw Pu Ward, Bago.

Tel: +95 52 2201304, 2201305, 2201305, 2201306, 2201307,
2201308

* Dawei

No.328, Bogyoke Road, Thaline Htein Ward,
Dawei Township,

Tel: +95 59 2024006, 2024007, 09 765603525

¢ Gyobin Gauk Branch
No. 12, West Lanmadaw St, Northwest Ward, Gyobin Gauk.
Tel: +95 53 51188, 51191

¢ Hinthada Branch
No. 122, Natmaw Street, Oo Yin Gyi Ward, Hinthada.
Tel: +95 44 22765, 22766, 22768, 22769

¢ Hpa-An Branch
No. 169 Bogyoke St, Ward 2, Hpa-An.
Tel: +95 58 22049, 22047

« Kalay Branch

U-Paing No. 5-46-47, Pinlon Ward, Bogyoke Aung San St,
Kalay

Tel: +95 73 21610, 21609

 Kalay Tahan Branch
No. (1/08), Taungphilar Ward, Bogyoke St, Kalay.
Tel: +95 73 322770

¢ Kyaikto

No.28, Bogyok Road, Taung Paing Ward, Kyaikto Township,
Mon state.

Tel: +95 9 765602635

¢ Kyaukme Branch
No. 358, Pinlon Street, Ward 2, Kyaukme.
Tel: +95 82 40467, 40468

¢ Kyauk Padaung Branch
Sanpya Ward, Yangon-Pyay-Mandalay Rd, Kyauk Padaung.
Tel: +95 61 50036, 50407

» Kyaukse Branch

No. Baga/358, Pauktaw Ward, Yangon-Mandalay Highway
Road, Kyaukse.

Tel: +95 66 2050055, 2050056

 Lashio Branch

No 286, Corner of Lanmadaw and Shwebo St, Ward 2,
Zone 11, Lashio.

Tel: +95 82 23472, 23886

e Larsho Branch 2
No. H/3, 8th Ward, Area 3, Theinni Street, Larshio.
Tel: +95 82 30436, 30543, 30114

e Magway Branch
No. 550, Pyitawthar St, Yan Myo Aung Ward, Magway.
Tel: +95 63 23057, 23059

e Mawlamyaing Branch

No. 3, Strand St, Ground Floor (Left Side), Phat Tan Ward,
Mawlamyaing.

Tel: +95 57 25930, 25932

¢ Mawlamying Branch 2
No. 506, Lower Road, Pabedan Ward, Mawlamying.
Tel: +95 57 24426, 21443, 21336, 24982, 24983

e Maubin
No.114, Coner of Min street and 7 street, 5 Ward, Maubin.
Tel: +95 9 765602138

* Meikhtila Branch
No. 155, U Paing No. 111, Minn Ward, Meikhtila.
Tel: +95 64 24113, 23177

¢ Minbu Branch
No. 10, Ward 3, Minbu-Saku St, Minbu.
Tel: +95 65 21359, 30058, 30059

* Monywa Branch
No. 30, Butar St, Sulaykone Ward, Monywa.
Tel: +95 7122684
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e Muse Branch
No. Ta-3, South Ward, Pyihtaungsu Rd, Muse.
Tel: +95 82 50216, 51172

e Myaungmya Branch
No. 10, 5th Street, Ward 2, Myaungmya.
Tel: +95 42 70355, 70505

* Myawaddy Branch
No. (B/1), Bayintnaung Road, 4th Ward, Myawaddy.
Tel: +95 58 51428, 51429, 51430, 51431

* Myeik Branch
No. 9 Bogyoke St, Seik Nge Ward, Myeik.
Tel: +95 59 41457, 41459

e Myingyan Branch
No. 155, East Market St, Ward 7, Myingyan.
Tel: +95 66 21216, 21352

» Myitkyina Branch
No. 57 Aung San St, Myoma Ward, Myitkyina.
Tel: +95 74 23753, 23756

» Naypyidaw Branch

No. 321, Thapyaygone Ward, Zabuthiri Township, Naypyidaw.

Tel: +95 3432093, 3432094

e Nyaung Lay Pin Branch
No. 30, Bogyoke St, Nyaung Lay Pin.
Tel: +95 52 50971, 50973

» Pakokku Branch
No. 75, Myoma St, Ward 7, Pakokku.
Tel: +95 62 22097, 21246

e Pathein Branch
No. 9 Konesone St, Ya Ya Ka Zone 4, Pathein.
Tel: +95 42 24345, 24347

e Paungde Branch
Phayargyi St, Market Ward 2, Paungde.
Tel: +95 53 38465, 38475

e Pyawbwe Branch

No. 234, Corner of Yangon-Mandalay and Minyalkyawswar
St, Myinbat Ward, Pyawbwe.

Tel: +95 64 48035, 48038

e Pyay Branch
No. 44, Yangon-Pyay Rd, Santaw Ward, Pyay.
Tel: +95 53 27714, 27550

e Pyinmanar Branch
No. 8/23, Botaukhtain St, Yanaung Ward 1, Pyinmanar.
Tel: +95 67 22684, 21132

¢ Pyin Oo Lwin Branch
No. 7, Mandalay-Lashio Rd, Pyin Oo Lwin.
Tel: +95 85 21612, 21615, 21616

* Shwebo Branch

No. 3/472, Ward 3, Corner of Aung Zayar Rd and Dhama
Thukha St, Pansodan Ward, Shwebo.

Tel: +95 75 22911, 22933, 22944, 22955
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« Sittwe Branch

Lot No. 35, Corner of U Ohtama St and Main Rd, North Yupa
Ward, Sittwe.

Tel: +95 43 23154, 21299

» Taungdwin Gyi Branch

No. 254 Shwekyarinn Ward 2, Yangon-Magway Rd,
Taungdwin Gyi.

Tel: +95 63 50346, 50477

e Taunggu Branch
No.16/103, No. 1St, U-Paing No. Kha/4, Lot No. 7+8, Taunggu.
Tel: +95 54 26117, 26119

e Taunggyi Branch
No. 128 Merchant Street, Kan Shae Yat, Taunggyi.
Tel: +95 81 202189, 202190

» Taunggyi Branch (Yadana Thiri)

No. 17, Block 177, Corner of West Myopat Street &
Anawyahtar Street, Pyitawthar Ward, Taunggyi.
Tel: +95 81 2125719, 2125720

165



Our Reach across Myanmar Strength in numbers

Our Regional Team

Khaing Nwe Moe Thwe Ni Oo Sai Thiha Bo Khin Zin Zin Aung  Naing Aye Lynn Sein Sein Mu Mu Aye Win Ni Ni Lwin Aye Thu Naing
Yangon & South Region Mandalay & North Region Yangon & East Region Yangon & South East Region Chief Customer Officer - Yangon & West Central West Region Mandalay & Central Shan, Kayah &
Personal East Region Kachin Region
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Corporate Information

Board of Directors Risk Oversight Committee People, Nomination &

Remuneration Committee

U Theim Wai Mr. Melvyn Pun
Executive Chairman Chairman U Tun Myat
. . Chairman

U Myat Thin Aung U Kyi Aye

Non-Executive Director Member Mr. Melvyn Pun
Member

U Tun Myat U Tun Myat

Independent Non-Executive Director Member Dr. Holger Dirk Michaelis
Member

U Kyi Aye Daw Aye Aye Soe

Executive Director Member Ms. Fay Chetnakarkul
Member

Mr. Melvyn Pun

Non-Executive Director Audit Committee Independent Auditor Company

Mr. Dean Cleland
Executive Director U Tun Myat Myanmar Vigour & Associates Limited

Chairman Certified Public Accountant
Dr. Holger Dirk Michaelis U Kvi A
) . . e .
Non-Executive Director Mem}I’aler Yy Cho Cho Aung Tin

Ms. Fay Chetnakarnkul Certified Public Accountant

Non-Executive Director
Company Registration No. Registered Office
Daw Aye Aye Soe

Executtve Director 193771947 No.192, Level 8, Office Tower 2, HAGL Myanmar
Centre Tower, Kabar Aye Pagoda Road, Bahan
Township Yangon, Myanmar

Yoma Bank has made every attempt to ensure the accuracy and reliability of the above information as of September 2020.
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Getting in touch
Yoma Bank Limited

No0.192, Level 8, Office Tower 2, HAGL Myanmar Centre Tower,
Kabar Aye Pagoda Road, Bahan Township Yangon, Myanmar

@ +95 (1) 9345 255
@ info@yomabank.com

@ www.yomabank.com




